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Foreword


by


Sir Robert Rhodes James


There is a strange mythology that there was a golden age of peace between the ending of the Napoleonic wars in 1815 and the subsequent Congress of Vienna, where, as Duff Cooper eulogised, the participants danced and enjoyed themselves and ‘created a hundred years of peace’, and the opening of the Great War in 1914.


A century that included the Crimean War, the Indian Mutiny, the American Civil War, the Franco-Prussian War, the series of conflicts in Southern Africa, culminating in the 1899–1903 South African War, the Indian Wars in Northern America, the British conquest of Upper Burma, Egypt and the Sudan, almost incessant conflicts on the North-West Frontier of India, the gradual and bloody dismemberment of the Ottoman Empire and a succession of Balkan Wars, and the Russo-Japanese war, can hardly be described as notably pacific. Nor were Ceylon or New Zealand brought under the British Crown without bloodshed and hardship.


Ian Hernon’s selection of some of the ‘forgotten wars’ of the nineteenth century adds further strength to the destruction of this mythology. What Kipling called ‘the savage wars of peace’ were often very savage indeed, including the brutal suppression of the Jamaica uprising by the British Governor Eyre, the Maori and Kandy wars, the extraordinary Magdala campaign in Ethiopia, the Riel rebellion in North-West Canada, the 1900 Ashanti campaign, and the terrible Modoc Indian War in the United States.


What is so sobering is that this list could have been much longer. As he states, ‘there was not one month in which British forces were not engaged somewhere across the world’, and not only British ones, either. It was a century of almost incessant conflict, culminating in the greatest one of all.


He describes these individually, with insight and shrewdness, and one of his most remarkable achievements is to bring them, and the people concerned, back to vivid life. I had certainly never heard of ‘Shacknasty Jim’, nor of many others who play varying roles, some honourable, many tragic, and others loathsome and deplorable. And he never loses sight of the fact that these were people; indeed, one of the great qualities of his accounts of these long-ago and too often bloody conflicts is the pervasive humanity with which he describes the sufferings of those involved, and of the guilty as well as the innocent.


There is in reality no such thing as ‘a small war’ for those involved. Whether the contestants are numbered in hundreds, thousands, or tens of thousands, the same grim rules apply. For some there may be glory, promotion, honours and fame; for the majority the end was an unknown grave far from home. Most died of disease rather than on the battlefield, but the result was the same.


These forgotten sagas have been sadly neglected by professional historians. I hope that Ian Hernon will continue to explore and relate others. There is, unhappily, no shortage of them.
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The purpose of this book is not to ape, much less rival, the far more erudite and scholarly volumes already published about the military adventures which helped to create and sustain the British Empire. Rather it is to tell, I hope in the straightforward tone of a reporter, some of the astonishing stories largely forgotten outside academic, specialist and military circles.


Throughout I have used, whenever possible, the words of the participants themselves: semi-literate or beautifully scripted, bewildered or boastful, they are the authentic voices of their age.


The bulk of this book concerns British forces and their opponents. I could not resist, however, including one American colonial conflict. It shares many of the characteristics of the Empire wars, not least the unwillingness of the native defenders to act as expected. More importantly, it is a terrific if tragic story – and that has been the main criteria for choosing the sample of forgotten wars included here.


Many people have given me advice, practical help and encouragement, and I thank them all. In particular: the late Sir Robert Rhodes James, without whom the road to publication would have been much rockier; my agent Mike Shaw of Curtis Brown; Jonathan Falconer, commissioning editor at Sutton Publishing; and editor Sarah Fowle.


I must also thank my wife Pauline and my daughters Joanna and Kim, not least for putting up with a lifetime partially spent trampling among ‘piles of old bricks’.




Part One


Massacre and Retribution




Introduction


For Britain the nineteenth century began, in military terms, with the global upheavals of the Napoleonic Wars and ended with a ‘modern’ conflict in which machine-guns and a scorched-earth policy were deployed against the Boers. In between there was a supposed peace, marred only by glorious, if tragic, enterprises in the Crimea, Africa and Afghanistan, against the Zulus, the Boers, the Mahdi and Indian mutineers, providing the battles whose names remain proudly emblazoned on regimental banners: Balaclava, Sevastopol, Alma, Lucknow, Kabul, Khartoum, Omdurman. These are the campaigns, it seems, that forged an Empire unparalleled in size before or since, and built the careers of such military leaders as Garnet Wolseley and Lord Kitchener. They were the source of many Boy’s Own stories and novels, as well as romantic cinema epics full of dramatic cavalry charges with sabres drawn against hordes of painted savages.


The long periods between such dashing conflicts have been dubbed the Pax Britannica, a time when the grip of the Empire was so strong and so benign that the simple presence of a few red tunics was enough to cow the natives. Yet this is misleading. In fact there was not one month in which British forces were not engaged somewhere across the world. Queen Victoria herself said that if Britain was to be truly ‘Great’ the nation had to be prepared for wars ‘somewhere or other’ at all times. They were what Rudyard Kipling called the ‘savage wars of peace’. Some involved a handful of British officers and native levies, others were major expeditions, the Victorian equivalent of the Falklands campaign of 1982. Most are now forgotten outside regimental museums.


These small wars often came about by accident, or as a result of misunderstandings, incomprehension between races, an insult real or imagined. They were blatantly about race, trade, religion and, above all, land, the root causes of all wars since recorded history began. All were the inevitable result of Britain’s ‘Forward Policy’ which saw more and more of the world map coloured pink. Existing frontiers could be better protected by extending them. Trade routes and influence had to be safeguarded. British citizens had to be guaranteed safety and privilege wherever they were. And, as historian Byron Farwell wrote, ‘Vigorous, self-confident, prideful, determined and opinionated people . . . will always provide themselves with armies and the temptation to use them to enforce national desires is seemingly irresistible.’


It is not the intention of this book to consider the rights and wrongs of colonial expansionism, but rather to celebrate the heroism, stamina and determination (and in some cases condemn the stupidity, cruelty and cowardice) of the participants in these forgotten wars. They came from all walks of life: gentlemen officers, foot soldiers from the Scottish Highlands, sappers from the Belfast docks, troopers from Northamptonshire estates, and brawny sergeant-majors born into the Army. Sent across the globe, they suffered dysentery, cholera, barbed arrows, gunshot, starvation, intense heat, freezing winds and the lash, all for a pittance during their service and, too often, the workhouse thereafter. They faced numerous adversaries: Maori warriors who swiftly overcame the terror of cannon and rocket attacks, the Riel rebels who fought for freedom and died on the gallows, the Ethiopian labourers who shifted mountains for their mad king.


The major wars of the era have remained in the collective folk memory. Most people know of Rorke’s Drift, but not of another incident when five members of the same regiment won Victoria Crosses on the same day. The fate of General Gordon at Khartoum is remembered, but not another massive expedition to rescue European hostages from a remote African mountain-top. The Indian Mutiny is still taught in schools but not the massacre of a British column in the Highlands of Ceylon. Such amazing stories have been largely erased from the national conscience, partly because they often involved inglorious defeats, partly because their adversaries did not fit the domestic stereotype of howling, unsophisticated ‘fuzzy-wuzzy’ savages, slaughtered or cowed by British discipline and moral superiority. They were wars in which modern armies aimed to subdue the supposedly ignorant, wars in which well-disciplined and well-armed white men were meant to crush poorly equipped and ill-led heathens. It did not always go to plan.


* * *


The British Army saw superficial changes during that stormy century, such as the final transition from scarlet to khaki, but its regimental system remained essentially the same. It was based on class and caste distinctions. The staff officers were drawn from the aristocracy and squirearchy, the ruling classes and professions, from public schools and family estates. Farwell wrote: ‘An army – that least democratic of social institutions – is dominated by its officers: it is they who establish its moral and social codes, the standard of discipline, and the degree of inhumanity to be tolerated; they determine its organisation, its tactics and strategies, its weapons and clothes, and, most importantly, its attitudes and opinions. As has often been proved, armies can be constructed from the most unpromising of human materials and be successful on the field of battle if they are provided with excellent officers, from subalterns to generals, who have time to mould their men.’


For much of the century commissions were bought and officers were too often drawn from a small pool of families whose sons might have been born on a different planet to the men who served under them. Such class distinctions were actively encouraged by the very idea of the ‘officer-gentleman’, the hostility of the generals towards any reform, the traditions of Wellington, the self-interest of the officers themselves, and the bureaucracy by which Army affairs were divided between the War Office, the Colonial Office, the Home Office, the Treasury, the Horse Guards and Royal Ordnance.


Even the abolition of purchased commissions did little to change the balance. Poor pay, which did not even cover the cost of lavish uniforms, never mind mess bills, meant that a private income was vital for any officer. Most came from public schools which did not teach military subjects, although half were subsequently trained at Sandhurst or Woolwich. The ordinary soldier came from a despised underclass – thieves, beggars, vagrants, drunkards, convicts, the destitute unemployed and starving – whom Lord Palmerston’s biographer Jasper Ridley said joined the army ‘to escape from the village constable or the irate father of a pregnant girl’.


The Army could never get enough men under the system of voluntary enlistment. Among the labouring classes the Army, with its poor pay, unsavoury conditions, long service requirements and traditions of suppressing domestic revolt, was simply not considered an honourable or worthwhile alternative to poverty at home. During the 1840s the natural wastage among infantrymen who served twenty-one years and cavalrymen who served twenty-four required 12,000 new recruits a year.


As a result recruitment depended on conning recruits with drink and fraudulent promises of pay, booty and women, at least until the late 1860s when attitudes changed and the Empire became inextricably linked with patriotism. The military authorities, who held their men in contempt, urged their recruiters to pursue ‘the foolish, the drunken, the ungodly and the despairing’. The only requirements were a very basic physical fitness and a constantly fluctuating minimum height.


Such men were famously described by Wellington: ‘The scum of the earth – the mere scum of the earth. It is only wonderful that we should be able to make so much of them afterwards. The English soldiers are fellows who have all enlisted for drink – that is the plain fact.’ He continued: ‘People talk of their enlisting from their fine military feeling – all stuff – no such thing. Some of our men enlist from having got bastard children – some for minor offences . . . you can hardly conceive such a set brought together.’ Yet he could also say of them with justifiable pride: ‘There are no men in Europe who can fight like my infantry . . . my army and I know one another exactly.’ On an earlier occasion he said: ‘Bravery is the characteristic of the British Army in all quarters of the world.’ And those who have served in India ‘cannot be ordered upon any Service, however dangerous or arduous, that they will not effect, not only with bravery, but with a degree of skill not often witnessed in persons of their description in other parts of the world.’


Such men, drawn from stinking gutters and gin houses, from gaols and poorhouses, from pit villages and dockyards, from behind ploughs and lowly desks, forged an Empire through their grit, endurance and courage. Why? An escape from poverty or prison at home was one factor, certainly. So, too, was the lure of booty and a chance to exercise naked aggression. But the overriding reason lay with the nature of the regimental system itself. The Regiment was home, family, provider, past and future all wrapped in one. To let down your comrades, and through them your regiment, was unthinkable – more serious even than letting down Queen and Country. It was a narrow form of patriotism, and one that in its fully developed form saw men march slowly towards the guns across the bloody fields of Flanders and the Somme. The love of regiment united officers and men. Sons followed fathers into the same regiment, whatever their rank. Identity with regiment was strengthened by its original regional roots. Highland regiments are said to take Scotland with them wherever they go. They did not get on with the Welsh regiments. Regimental pride was strengthened with the roll of battle honours, and the nicknames they accrued. The Middlesex Regiment became known as the ‘Diehards’ because of the valour they displayed at Albuera in 1811; the men of the Northamptonshire Regiment, however, were known as the ‘Steelbacks’ as they never flinched at a flogging.


Throughout the century the pattern of recruitment shifted away from rural areas and towards the new, rootless and increasingly destitute unemployed in the mushrooming cities. In 1830 more than 42 per cent of NCOs and men were Irish, most of them Roman Catholics; a decade later that figure was 24.5 per cent. Even the famous Scottish regiments relied more and more on attracting men from the slums of Manchester, London, Leeds and Cardiff.


Soldiers and NCOs hardly ever moved from their company, much less their regiment, during their entire service careers. In The Mask of Command John Keegan wrote: ‘The effect was to produce a high degree of what today is called “Small unit cohesion”. The men knew each other well, their strengths and weaknesses were known by their leaders and vice versa, and all strove to avoid the taint of cowardice that would attach instantly to shirkers in such intimate societies. Motivation was reinforced by drill. Both infantry and cavalry fought in close order . . . under strict supervision and to the rhythm of endlessly rehearsed commands.’ James Morris wrote: ‘The Army lived ritualistically. Flags, guns and traditions were holy to it, and loyalty to one’s regiment was the emotional keynote of the service.’


Such men would wade through malarial swamps, hack through jungles, clamber over mountain crags, to get at the enemy for the sake of their regiment. They would also beef and grumble and dodge duties, and drink and steal and pick fist-fights; they would abuse natives and women, they would loot and occasionally slaughter the defenceless. But the savage little wars of the nineteenth century bear witness to their courage. Without them no Empire would have been won, whatever the genius of generals and strategists, whatever the ambitions of monarchs and politicians.


‘But for this a price must be paid,’ wrote Sir Arthur Conan Doyle, ‘and the price is a grievous one. As the beast of old must have one young human life as a tribute every year, so to our Empire we throw from day to day the pick and flower of our youth. The engine is worldwide and strong, but the only fuel that will drive it is the lives of British men. Thus it is that in the gray old cathedrals, as we look upon the brasses on the walls, we see strange names, such names as those who reared those walls had never heard, for it is in Peshawar, and Umballah, and Korti, and Fort Pearson that the youngsters die, leaving only a precedent and a brass behind them. But if every man had his obelisk, even where he lay, then no frontier line need be drawn, for a cordon of British graves would ever show how high the Anglo-Saxon tide had lapped.’


General Sir Garnet Wolseley, in his general orders for the 1873 Ashanti expedition wrote: ‘English soldiers and sailors are accustomed to fight against immense odds in all parts of the world; it is scarcely necessary to remind them that when in our battles across the Pra (River) they find themselves surrounded on all sides by hordes of howling enemies, they must rely on their own British courage and discipline, and upon the courage of their comrades.’


The men themselves were rather more laconic, in an era which prided modesty, when describing their own acts. Sergeant Luke O’Connor of the Welch Fusiliers described a charge at the Russian guns at Alma: ‘Getting near the Redoubt, about 30 yards, Lieutenant Anstruther was shot dead and I was badly wounded in the breast with two ribs broken. I jumped up and took the Colour from Corporal Luby, rushed to the Redoubt and planted it there.’ O’Connor was awarded one of the first Victoria Crosses. Another old soldier, G. Bell, recorded the storming of the French defences at Badajoz: ‘Hundreds fell, dropping at every discharge which maddened the living; the cheer was ever on, on, with screams of vengeance and a fury determined to win the town; the rear pushed the foremost into the sword-blades to make a bridge of their bodies rather than be frustrated. Slaughter, tumult and disorder continued; no command could be heard, the wounded struggling to free themselves from under the bleeding bodies of their dead comrades; the enemy’s guns within a few yards at every fire opening a bloody lane amongst our people, who closed up and, with shouts of terror as the lava burned them up, pressed on to destruction. . . .’


By 1814 the British Army had been trained and tested against the might of Napoleon. Its men were hardened, disciplined and experienced in warfare anywhere from hot arid plains to steaming jungles. They were its muscle, sinews and blood. Its NCOs, risen from the ranks, were, in Kipling’s words, its backbone. The officers had been blooded too and were beginning to display the talents of a professional elite; men who, as Wellington put it, ‘have something more at stake than a reputation for military smartness’. At last, after years of bought commissions and talentless amateurism, they were beginning to provide some brains.


General Sir John Moore’s reforms of the Light Brigade had an impact throughout the Army. There was less emphasis on ceremony and drill and more on training which reflected actual battle and campaign conditions. Riflemen were taught to support each other as they moved into the best positions to slay the enemy. As Arthur Bryant wrote: ‘At the back of every rifleman’s mind Moore instilled the principle that the enemy were always at hand ready to strike. Whether on reconnaissance or protective duty, he was taught to be wary and on guard . . . It was the pride of the light infantryman never to be caught napping . . . each one an alert and intelligent individual acting in close but invisible concert with his comrades.’


The ordinary soldier’s firepower, however, was inadequate in an age of quickly changing technology. Too often British forces, as in the Maori Wars, found themselves facing ‘savages’ armed with more modern weapons than they carried themselves. From Waterloo until the 1850s the standard infantry weapon was the flintlock musket which weighed 10.5 lb and was accurate to 80 yards. It was cumbersome and slow to load. Lieutenant John Mitchell wrote: ‘In nine cases out of ten the difficulty of pulling the trigger makes the soldier open the whole of the right hand in order to aid the action of the forefinger; this gives full scope to the recoil: the prospect of the blow makes him throw back his head and body at the very moment of giving fire; and as no aim is ever required he shuts his eyes, from the flash of the pan, at the same instant, so that the very direction of the shot becomes a matter of mere accident.’ Small wonder that Charles Napier wrote: ‘The short range and very uncertain flight of shot from the musket begets the necessity of closing with the enemy, which the British soldier’s confidence in superior bodily strength, due to climate, pushes him to do.’ He added: ‘No troops in the world will stand the assault of British troops, if made with the bayonet and without firing. Firing is a weapon . . . of defence, not of attack.’ The British soldier’s affection for the bayonet as a trustworthy weapon outlived the century. Its reputation in retrospect seems misplaced: various types either bent or fell off, and they were all unwieldy. The bayonet was no match against pikes or the long Chinese spears at Canton. At Merthyr in 1888 the 93rd Highlanders with bayonets fixed confronted Welsh dissidents with staves – and were defeated. And bayonets had bent at the battle of Abu Klea in 1885, causing a public outcry over the quality of British weaponry.


Gradually firepower improved. In 1830 muskets were converted to percussion cap ignition, which reduced misfirings. From 1851 the foot soldiers were rearmed with the Minie rifle, although initially in an unrifled model so that massive stockpiles of musket balls would not go to waste. The Minie was sighted to 1,000 yards and was accurate to 800. At that range 77 out of 100 hits were registered on a target 8 ft square. At ranges between 300 and 600 yards the experts calculated that 150 men armed with Minies could equal the slaughter achieved by 525 equipped with the musket. It was a muzzle-loader, so still slow, but its effective range of more than ¼ mile dramatically changed the nature of ground engagements. Colonel F.T. Maitland described the universal adoption of the rifle as ‘a complete revolution in the art of warfare’. William Napier said it ‘must paralyse the action of cavalry against infantry and artillery within that range’. In 1866 there was a long-overdue breakthrough. The Snider breech-loading rifle began to be issued. Although still a single-shot weapon, it allowed soldiers, for the first time, to fire lying down, from behind defensive positions. The Snider was replaced by the metal-cartridged Martini-Henry during the 1870s. By the 1890s the Army was using the bolt-action, magazine-fed Lee Metford .303 rifle which would remain the basic infantry weapon up to and beyond the Second World War. In 1891 smokeless powder was introduced, a vital improvement because soldiers firing from cover were not given away by a puff of white smoke.


The vast improvements in firepower slowly changed the nature of mounted warfare. It was the beginning of the end of the proud cavalry regiments. Tactician Captain L.E. Nolan concluded ruefully: ‘The great improvements made in firearms, and the increased range of the infantry musket, leave but little chance for cavalry, unless the speed at which they can pounce upon the infantry lessens the number and the effect of the discharge to be received during their advance.’ Earlier he had written: ‘With the cavalry officer almost everything depends on . . . the felicity with which he seizes the happy moment of action. There is little time for thought, none for hesitation. . . .’ Increasingly, however, the cavalrymen, armed with lance, sword and pistol, and, later, carbines, were used for reconnaissance, skirmishing and attacking convoys, and as advance guards. George Cathcart, commander of the King’s Dragoon Guards in Canada in 1838, stressed in orders that cavalry should take up advance positions with ‘great promptness’, then dismount and hold their ground until they could be relieved by the slower-moving infantry. The charge could still be deployed (although it rarely was) in open country against natives; for this reason the long sword was developed for use against tribesmen who fired their weapons from prone positions. Mounted infantry proved to be well suited for the colonies, especially for police duties. A small number of mounted men could garrison and patrol much larger tracts of remote countryside than a greater number of foot soldiers.


The development of field artillery was steady throughout the century but for the colonies the mainstay was the six-pounder. It was light and manageable, with a range of 1,200 yards at 4 degrees elevation. The main types of ammunition used were round shot (which bounced off the ground causing carnage among a column of men), grapeshot, common shell and shrapnel. Common shell included a time fuse which exploded a hollow round, despatching fragments in all directions. Shrapnel incorporated round shot but technical problems delayed its introduction. Once these problems were ironed out it proved devastating against a massed foe. After shrapnel was deployed to halt a river-crossing during the Second Sikh War a witness wrote: ‘Never was it more clearly demonstrated that shrapnel, when directed with precision, is one of the most formidable and effectual inventions of modern times.’ Rockets were often used during the first half of the century but were deemed inaccurate, unreliable and useful only for frightening the horses.


Fighting, the ultimate task of any trained soldier, was generally only the culmination of any campaign. A teenage Lieutenant Samuel Thorpe wrote of the 1808 retreat to Corunna: ‘When we reached Astorga . . . want of shoes and food and long marches had much altered the appearance of the Army; the number of sick and stragglers was immense, and the men generally bare-footed.’ The Welch Fusiliers’ Official History, recording a South African campaign as the century closed, said: ‘Averaging nearly 17 miles a day, over apparently endless prairies, in blazing sun and bitter cold, swept now by hot and choking dust storms, now by rushes of icy hail, fording rivers and floundering through sand, with scanty food and shelterless bivouacs, their toil unenlightened by anything but hope. Marching is the true rigour of campaigning. Of fighting, the welcome relief, they had too little to lighten the dullness of their task.’ Astonishingly it was not until 1843 that soldiers were issued with left and right fitting boots. Previously, identical footwear had been issued with instructions that they should be swapped over on alternate days to ensure even wear.


Unsuitable uniforms and heavy equipment added to the soldiers’ misery on the march, especially on other continents. By the start of the century powdered wigs had been phased out and heavy greycoats issued for winter wear. But most foot soldiers wore scarlet tunics, heavy felt shakos and the hated ‘stock’, a stiff leather support for a high collar. After Waterloo uniforms became more ornate. The infantry of the Line saw their sensible grey trousers replaced with white ones which were impossible to keep clean. Garnet Wolseley, writing of the 1853 Burmese expedition, said that the Queen’s Army took an ‘idiotic pride’ in dressing for Asia as though it were an English parade ground. He wrote: ‘We wore our ordinary cloth shell jackets buttoned up to the chin, and the usual white buckskin gloves. Could any costume short of steel armour be more absurd in such a latitude?’ It was not until the 1870s, thanks to enlightened commanders like Wolseley, that scarlet could be put aside in hostile climates and replaced with grey serge jackets and Indian sun helmets.


Marching was, of course, rather different in peacetime, especially for the officers. General Sir Charles Dobell described a march across Northern India in 1887: ‘Full Officer’s Mess furniture accompanied us as we entertained in the usual way at all stations on the line of march. Transport consisted of camels or bullock carts . . . We were followed by 60 polo ponies, the property of the officers. We played wherever there was a ground and did a little mild pig-sticking as well. At each station cricket and football matches were arranged against the local regiments and there was frequently some shooting to be enjoyed.’


Food was a constant cause for complaint among the men. The standard daily ration was 1 lb bread eaten at breakfast with coffee, and 12 oz meat for dinner. The meat was boiled beef or mutton thickened into a broth in large copper vessels. Cash was deducted – 6d a day until 1854 – from the soldier’s basic pay of one shilling a day for such rations. Extra vegetables were bought and paid for by the men themselves.


Incompetence and, it was often suspected, corruption caused appalling hardship and contributed to the epidemics that often devastated armies and expeditionary forces. In home barracks soldiers could expect to be hospitalized once every thirteen months but in overseas stations the numbers of cases swelled immeasurably. Between 1825 and 1836 the mortality rate among soldiers on the Gold Coast was 668 per 1,000. Soldiers in Jamaica, Ceylon, South Africa and North America were sick enough to be hospitalized several times a year. Between 1839 and 1853 the British Army suffered 58,139 deaths at home and abroad, the vast majority of them through sickness. The mortality rate among officers was half that of NCOs and men.


Major Daniel Lysons wrote of his camp in the Crimea: ‘The food is very bad and insufficient. A lump of bad beef without any fat, boiled in water, and a bit of sour bread are not sufficient to keep men in good condition. We can get no vegetables whatsoever, and the people in the village here will not sell us anything.’ Cholera broke out and his unit lost thirty-seven dead in three months. Later, after the battles of Balaclava and Inkerman, Lysons wrote home: ‘12 December 1854. Unfortunately our commissariat transport has broken down and we only get short rations; sometimes a quarter of a pound of salt pork and half a pound of biscuit a day, very short commons for men at hard work . . .


14 December. We had 73 deaths last month. This month we have had an average of two a day, till the day before yesterday when there were five, yesterday eight . . .


24 January 1855. I have only 206 men now left fit for duty; there were seven deaths yesterday.’


The Welch Fusiliers lost 754 men during the Crimean War, 530 of whom died of disease. Such an attrition rate, not caused by enemy fire, caused a scandal at home and conditions gradually changed with improved regulations covering hygiene, medical care and resources. Wolseley was able to sanction seventy doctors for 2,400 men on the Ashanti expedition.


Earlier in his career, when stationed in the West Indies, Lysons found some light relief during a cholera epidemic: ‘One poor fellow, who was given over by the doctors and supposed to be dead, was measured for his coffin, and the coffin was made. In those hot climates there is no time to be lost. The man, however, disappointed the doctors and recovered. Then came the question, who was to pay for the coffin? It was charged to the man, but he refused to sign his accounts with this charge against him, saying that he had not ordered the coffin and did not want it.’ A compromise was reached – the soldier paid for the casket, provided he could keep it in his barracks where, fitted with shelves, it held all his gear.


Drink could be a comfort or a curse. The young Lieutenant Thorpe described the destruction of supplies to prevent them falling into the hands of the enemy: ‘As we marched through the town, the rum was running down the canals of the streets, and with much difficulty we prevented the men from remaining behind and getting intoxicated; those who had shoes slipped them off their feet, and filling them with rum and mud drank it off at a gulp before the officers could prevent them; others filled their caps for the same purpose.’ After the same campaign a private of the 71st Foot wrote: ‘The great fault of our soldiers at the time was an inordinate desire for spirits of any kind. They sacrificed their life and safety for drink, in many ways; for they lay down intoxicated upon the snow and slept the sleep of death; or, staggering behind, were overtaken and cut down by the merciless French soldiers.’


At the height of the Raj in Karachi Corporal Andrew Morton recalled: ‘The canteen was open all day . . . and you could buy over three pints of spirits for one rupee or two shillings, and this arrack or rum was over-proof . . . There was men dying every day from the effects of drink which did more for death than fever . . . At the time the battle money was served out there were about thirty men in hospital from drink . . . Drink was the rage in India.’ Corporal Alexander Morton described regular drunken fights in the bazaars: ‘The native police, under the superintendence of a European Inspector, would make haste to the scene of the disturbance and endeavour to put a stop to it. If a row was continued the native police carried nets which they threw over the drunkards’ heads, knocked them off their feet and rolled them up.’


During the Opium War British and Indian soldiers plundered the island of Chusan after looting vast stocks of the Chinese spirit Samsu. An officer reported: ‘Its effect on them was of the most dreadful nature and very different from that of the spirits we are used to in England. A man no sooner took a small quantity than he was in a most dreadful state and committing the most horrible atrocities.’


Desertion was always a problem, averaging 4 per cent among troops serving in Australia and New Zealand during the 1850s. Such frontier lands offered safe havens in which a man could disappear and earn his fortune in goldfields or land grabs.


Discipline was harsh throughout the century. The penalty for desertion, cowardice, armed robbery, mutiny and murder was death throughout the nineteenth century and into the twentieth, and every expedition had its executioners. During the fourteen months up to February 1813 it is estimated that forty-one men were executed in an army of 100,000. However, it was the cat-o’-nine-tails which kept the rankers submissive. In 1814 more than 18,000 men were flogged. During a Commons debate that year Lord Palmerston, then Secretary for War, argued successfully that only the lash could instill fear in men who were used to settling their own arguments with fists, feet and cudgels. Wellington asked: ‘Who would bear to be billed up [confined to barracks] but for the fear of a stronger punishment?’


Up to 1829 courts martial had powers to impose unlimited flogging, which often amounted to a death sentence. In that year the maximum was set at 500 lashes; in 1833 this was reduced to 300, in 1836 to 200 and in 1846 to 50. The issue was hugely political, linked as it was to the abolition of slavery and the introduction of proper policing and penal reform. During the mid-1840s military prisons were built as an alternative to execution or the lash, although military authorities were keen to retain flogging as a punishment for insubordination and the theft of Army property. Flogging in peacetime was abolished in 1869, but continued on active service until 1881 – a century after it had been scrapped in France, Austria and Prussia. Its final abolition marked an acceptance that soldiering was now an honourable profession.


More emphasis was placed on rewarding good soldiers through good conduct pay, badges and medals, and recreation. Proper canteens and messes were introduced for all ranks. Reading classes and regimental schools were established despite the splenetic rage of the Old Guard who preferred to keep their troops ignorant in all things but personal sacrifice. Sporting facilities were improved to ease the deadly boredom of barracks life. Fines and loss of good service pay were imposed for drunkenness in lieu of the lash.


Barracks, both at home and abroad, were generally miserable places. Overcrowding and poor or non-existent sanitation were universal, whether a soldier was stationed in Dublin Castle or in a stilted cabin in the Hondorus swamps. Army regulations said that each man was entitled to 300 cubic feet of air; in British gaols the minimum was 600. In the West Indies the sleeping space allocation was 23 inches width per man. Ablutions were conducted at standpipes in the yards while inside the piss-tub overflowed at night. Many barracks were built over or adjoining sewage ditches. The barrack rooms, draughty or poorly ventilated, were used for sleeping, eating and killing time.


Living in the same barracks were the wives and children of those men permitted to marry, their numbers swelled by unofficial wives and smuggled-in girlfriends, some of whom earned a few pence by cleaning laundry, cooking and cutting hair. Privacy was, at best, a blanket slung over a rope and behind such makeshift curtains women lived, loved, washed and even gave birth.


In many regiments, however, only 12 of 100 men were allowed official wives and marriage was frowned upon among the rank and file. The rest took their pleasures when and where they could. There were camp followers behind most regiments, and native girls along the way, although the incidence of reported rape appears low compared with that of other armies. In a letter home Trooper Charles Quevillart described a Karachi brothel: ‘The sight of the older women was simply disgusting for they were one and all deplorably ugly and little was left for the imagination as a yard of calico would have furnished a dozen of them with a full dress. Some had breasts hanging as low as their waists and I noticed one party with appendages so long that she was enabled to suckle her child by throwing them over her shoulders.’ But then, he might have been reassuring his mother. Other soldiers, less restrained, wrote glowingly of the dancing maidens of India and Arabia, the delicate Chinese women of Malaya, Nigerian princesses, the mixed-blood women of the West Indies. E. Sellon wrote that native women ‘understand in perfection all the arts and wiles of love, are capable of gratifying any tastes, and in face and figure they are unsurpassed by any women in the world’. In hotter climes there were fewer sexual taboos than at home, and British soldiers could use their money, their power and position, and their novelty to rampage sexually across the world.


Prostitution grew immeasurably wherever the flag was planted, and venereal disease mushroomed. In India so many men were laid low that British authorities sanctioned regulated prostitution. From 1860 to the late 1880s seventy-five cantonments were designated brothel areas with regular medical inspection, registration and hospital treatment centres. Such methods worked and the rate of syphilis in the army in India was lower than in the barracks back home. But in 1888 the ‘moral purity’ lobby forced the Army to suspend the arrangements. The result was a dramatic upsurge in cases, peaking at more than 25 per cent of Indian Army rankers in 1895.


Among officers sex scandals, particularly those involving the wives of fellow officers, ruined promising careers. An indecent act in a railway carriage halted the upward rise of Army modernizer Valentine Baker. Allegations of homosexual activity often resulted in suicide, as in the case of ‘Fighting Mac’ MacDonald (see Appendix).


When Victoria took the throne in 1837 the British Army was around 100,000 strong and consisted mainly of infantry. By 1859 the total stood at 237,000, of whom well over half were overseas, garrisoning the Empire. Of the 130 infantry battalions, around 50 were in India, 37 in the Colonies and 44 at home. Most soldiers came from rural communities and there was a high proportion of Scots, Irish and Welsh.


As the century grew older so too did the generals. Arrogance, out-dated methods, senile incompetence, laziness and corruption trickled down from the top. Politicians demanded glorious adventures to distract the unruly mob at home while cutting back on military spending. The result was unnecessary, bloody fiascos such as the First Afghan War and the Crimea, as well as the innumerable smaller wars that are the subject of this book.


During the middle part of the century the incompetence of commanders was endemic. Major-General Elphinstone, commander of the ill-fated Afghan expedition, was elderly, inexperienced and disinterested. One writer summed up a widely held view: ‘I state unhesitatingly that for pure, vacillating stupidity, for superb incompetence to command, for ignorance combined with bad judgement – in short, for the true talent for catastrophe – Elphy Bey stood alone . . . Elphy outshines them all as the greatest military idiot of our own or any other day.’ More famously William Howard Russell described the Crimean commander thus: ‘I am convinced from what I see that Lord Raglan is utterly incompetent to lead an army through any arduous task.’ But Elphinstone and Raglan were not alone, as we shall see.


In 1868 Edward Cardwell was appointed Secretary for War and began his long-awaited reforms. He introduced short-time enlistment which resulted in a younger and fitter Army. He built up the Reserves. Most importantly, he scrapped the long-established practice, endorsed by Wellington, allowing the privileged classes to purchase commissions and promotion regardless of ability.


To many British politicians the small wars of the frontier were despised as ‘nigger-bashing’. Armchair strategists believed that the ‘lower races’ could not stand up to colonial superiority, in terms of morality, Christianity and firepower. The abolition of slavery had not been universally acclaimed and troublesome natives and released slaves had engendered racist attitudes which had transcended the patronizing traditional image of ‘Sambo’ on the world’s stage. The ordinary British soldier, however, had ambivalent attitudes to native enemies. Racism and bigotry were prized attributes at home in those Empire-building days and the new recruits shared them. But seasoned campaigners, used to fighting alongside sepoys, native regiments and local levies, took a broader view. The 200,000-strong Indian Army, although British-officered, was made up of Sikhs, Mahrattas, Dogras, Rajputs, Muslims and Gurkhas, all of them volunteers. In many other parts of the Empire local levies were raised because they knew the territory, were more resistant to the climate and, most importantly, were cheaper and could be dismissed without pensions when no longer needed. Such forces, always officered by whites, were widely deployed in the Caribbean, Guiana, West and South Africa, Ceylon, Malaya, Java, Goa, Mauritius and Mozambique. Malay soldiers were reckoned to be efficient, cheerful and healthy. ‘Hottentots’ were valued for their tracking skills in the bush.


Furthermore, the British soldier respected a courageous and determined foe, whether he was African, American or Oriental. (In broad terms, that is; there were exceptions, of course, when vengeance or fear were involved: witness the incredible savagery of the British following the Indian Mutiny and the Jamaica ‘revolt’.) Rudyard Kipling, who better than anyone understood the attitudes of the common soldier, wrote: ‘So ’ere’s to you, Fuzzy-Wuzzy, at your ’ome in the Soudan; You’re a pore benighted ’eathen, but a first-class fighting man . . .’.


And the memoirs of British officers and men repeatedly record the acts of incredible bravery among their adversaries. The 18th (Royal Irish) Regiment, after an assault on a Chinese temple, found they had captured a butcher’s-shop. Those Tartar defenders not killed in battle had slain themselves rather than be taken prisoner. William Napier described the charge of Sind troops at the battle of Miani in 1843: ‘Guarding their heads with large dark shields they shook their sharp swords, gleaming in the sun, and their shouts rolled like peals of thunder as with frantic might and gestures they dashed against the front of the 22nd.’ At Omdurman 50,000 natives ‘streamed across the open to certain death’. At Ulundi, according to another participant, the Zulus ‘fell in heaps’ as they ran in waves through volley fire. In battle the Zulus sometimes threw their own dead before them to blunt the redcoats’ bayonets. On the Aroji plateau Abyssinian warriors in scarlet shirts merely ducked when fired upon by rockets and then ran headlong into massed rifle and cannon fire.


A civilian witness at the battle of Tamai in 1884 saw Muslims attack General Buller’s disciplined ranks: ‘Not one man could get near enough to use his spear. It was an awful sight, and as an exhibition of pluck, or rather fanaticism, it could not be equalled. Poor deluded Arabs! thinking that they could do anything with their spears and swords out in the open against disciplined British troops armed with rifles.’


Courage was not just displayed in the heat of battle but also in its agonizing aftermath. Lieutenant Robarts of the Victoria Mounted Rifles described the Zulu wounded after Nyezane: ‘They were very quiet, and seemed to bear pain well, no groaning or crying out. We could not do anything for them except give them water to drink . . .’. Captain William Molyneux described a visit to a Zulu kraal after the 1879 War where he met an old man ‘who had lost half his right arm . . . the bone had been smashed by a bullet below the elbow; but he had cut the loose part off, and the wound had healed now. The many little mounds covered with stones, told how many of the poor fellows had crawled home simply to die.’


All ranks respected the concept – myth or real – of warrior peoples and their effectiveness at unconventional warfare. One regimental history written during the 1840s said of the Pathan: ‘For centuries he has been on our frontier . . . subject to no man. He leads a wild, free, active life in the rugged fastness of his mountains; and there is an air of masculine independence about him which is refreshing in a country like India.’ Sir Percival Marling recalled that ‘the black Soudanese fought like blazes’ at Tel-al-Kebiv. The Dervishes at El Teb, according to a sergeant of the 18th Hussars, were without doubt ‘the most fierce, brave, daring, and unmerciful race of men in the world’.


In the 1890s Colonel C.E. Callwell praised the Pirah tribesmen for their grasp of partisan warfare – the ability to move quickly over hard ground, appear where they were least expected and disappear when faced with superior forces. He said: ‘Such methods are bewildering to the commanders of disciplined troops opposed to them.’


It can be recognized now, and many soldiers knew it at the time, that such opponents were fighting for their freedom, their country, their faith: causes which they believed were worth dying for even when they themselves were ruled by bloodthirsty despots. It is for such men and women, whose stories are not recorded in regimental histories, that this book was principally written.




ONE


The First Kandy War, 1803–5


‘The troops in Kandy are all dished, Your Honour’


‘The Kandians had no sooner entered than they began to butcher indiscriminately everyone in the hospital, robbing them at the same time, cursing and reviling them, and spitting in their faces.’ This description by one of the few survivors of the Kandy massacre reeks of horror. Yet Western travellers described the peoples of Ceylon as gentle and civilized. There is no contradiction. They were, and are, a peaceful people grown skilled in warfare. Scots wanderer Henry Marshall said they were ‘hardy, brave and, like most mountaineers, passionately attached to their native hills’.


The British military disaster in the wild fastness of central Ceylon was a foretaste of many wars which dragged through the century. A modern Westernized force marched to the tunes of glory against a native population which was, to Western eyes, unsophisticated, ill-armed, medieval, craven, even corrupt. The invaders suffered hideously from that misjudgement. The campaign was ill-conceived and badly planned. Poorly equipped troops and raw recruits battled against the alien terrain and a people who well knew how to use it. The Kandyans used the landscape as a weapon of war. A people who would have been treated as exotic curiosities in the salons of London and Paris defended themselves against an army whose technology was more geared towards the battle plains of Napoleonic Europe than Ceylon’s tropical rainforests, malarial swamps and saw-toothed mountains. It was a war like many others, marked by courage and cowardice, treachery and confusion, suffering and comradeship, brutality and nobility.


It was a small war but a costly one. For sheer savagery it has rarely been out-done.


* * *


Three thousand years ago King Solomon is said to have purchased elephants from Sri Lanka to woo the Queen of Sheba. Sri Lanka, ‘the Blessed One’, was the paradise designated by Buddha as the place where his religion would flourish. The Westernized history of the island was written in blood and fire. In 1505 the Portuguese discovered a treasure house of gold and spice on the prime trade routes: they found gems, king coconuts, a high grade cinnamon unique to the island, chillis, leopards, the white egret and beautiful women; they found excellent harbours, paddyfields, lofty mountains and a lushness that inspired awe even in eyes adjusted to the colours of the Orient. Inevitably it became a magnet for freebooters, explorers, soldiers, rogues and swindlers. The Sinhalese had suffered centuries of invasions from the Indian subcontinent but had created a civilization that the Romans had considered ‘just and gentle’. Over 150 years the Portuguese created from the richness a ruin, a prize to be plundered and despoiled and fought over by the European nations.


The Sinhalese fought back against Portuguese armies made up largely of native allies and paroled convicts, perfecting guerrilla tactics from their mountain capital Kandy. They were years of carnage in which the invaders used every torture invented by the Inquisition. Finally the Sinhalese bottled up the Portuguese in Colombo and massacred columns loaded with booty from ransacked Buddhist temples. In one battle in 1638, 6,000 lives were lost. After another battle, fifty prisoners were returned to Colombo with only ten eyes between them and no testicles.


The Sinhalese then reached a deal with the Dutch to help them sweep the Portuguese into the sea in return for an overseas trade monopoly. That achieved, the Dutch simply renewed the plundering, corruption and land seizure under the guise of bureaucracy, and established a circle of coastal provinces protected by strong forts. In 1761 the Kandyans in the central mountains declared war on the coastal provinces, giving the Dutch an excuse to invade the highland kingdom. The first campaign saw the Dutch crushed by falling boulders, impaled by spears, trapped and slaughtered in ravines, lost in jungles. A second expedition captured Kandy City which the natives had abandoned, but monsoons forced the Dutch to retreat and a peace treaty was made. These campaigns were dress rehearsals for the British wars which followed. Western-led forces were able to control the coastal plains and paddyfields but the Kandyans were almost unbeatable in their mountain strongholds.


History repeated itself and the Dutch became victims of a deal between the Sinhalese and another foreign power. In 1795, 1,000 British infantry and four Indian battalions captured Trincomalee, the second city of the coastal provinces. Colombo surrendered bloodlessly and the Dutch withdrew ingloriously.


The British pact with the Kandyans proved an uneasy alliance from the start, with accusations of treachery and deceit on both sides. Partly to blame were the inevitable misconceptions which arose when East met West. The Kandyans could be an enigma. European chroniclers had described the islanders as a gentle and generous race, but one capable of great barbarity. Executions by trained elephants and by impaling did occur but their Buddhism made them reluctant to take life. Kandyan peasants lived in a fruitful land and could live comfortably without too much effort. Most visitors agreed they were handsome, dignified and devout – yet capable of irrational rage. Even the more affluent lived in simple huts, although they built magnificent temples and palaces. Hardest for Europeans to understand was their love of ritual and ceremony for its own sake. This led to a delight in intrigue, bargaining and labyrinthine plotting which gave them a reputation for deviousness. Robert Knox, a seventeenth-century captive, wrote of them: ‘In their promises very unfaithful, approving lying in themselves but misliking it in others.’ It was a harsh verdict, and one based on ignorance, but the British soon came to agree.


Under the terms of the Madras Treaty the British inherited the coastal provinces but would allow the Kandyans access to the ports for supplies of salt and fish and for limited trade with the outside world. After two years the Treaty had not been ratified. The Kandyans belatedly realized that it gave the British the same coastal possessions and almost the same trade monopolies as the Dutch had enjoyed before them. By 1797 poor administration and British ignorance of local custom and land laws sparked a revolt in the provinces around Colombo. The Kandyans gave the rebels moral backing but stayed clear of the fighting.


Whitehall appointed Frederick North, third son of the Prime Minister, as Governor-General of the Ceylon territories in 1798. His task was to run them as a Crown Colony, against the wishes of the East India Company which retained the responsibility for trade and revenue. North was initially successful. The revolt fizzled out as he reformed land laws, tackled corruption, set up a legal code seen to be fair, and improved education and health. However, he quickly concluded that the coastal provinces could never be fully secure while the Kandyan kingdom posed a threat from within. That kingdom was then in turmoil and gave North his most pressing diplomatic problem.


Three months earlier King Rajadhi Raja Sinha had died. Pilima Talauva, his Adigar (Prime Minister) wanted power for himself but was wary of seizing the throne directly. Instead he installed as puppet monarch the eighteen-year-old Kannasemy, who was the son of the dead king’s sister-in-law and perhaps, according to persistent rumours, also the Adigar’s own child. The youth was invested with the sword of state as King Sri Wikrama Raja Sinha. In manhood he was described as 6 ft tall with Herculean limbs, his features handsome, his eyes intensely black and piercing. He was to prove no puppet.


North began talks with the new regime, meeting Pilima Talauva with great ceremony but reaching no conclusion. As the months dragged on North’s conviction grew that the kingdom was a barrier to progress. Meanwhile the young king began to show his independence, much to the dismay of the ‘king-maker’ Pilima Talauva who began plotting his downfall. The full truth may never be known but North undoubtedly began playing off the chief minister against the monarch, a diplomatic double game, confident that he could pick up the pieces to the benefit of Empire.


At a second summit meeting, North was allegedly shocked by Pilima Talauva’s discreet proposal to kill Sri Wikrama and refused to send a British force to help him do so. Pilima Talauva, sick with VD and fistulas, grew increasingly desperate as his power at court diminished. He proposed that North should send an ambassador to Kandy City to negotiate a new treaty; he should be accompanied by a strong escort which would achieve a dual purpose: it would both intimidate the king and demonstrate British power and the benefits of living under its protection. North agreed and the ambassador chosen was the veteran Major-General Hay Macdowall. His orders were to offer support to whichever faction at court was most likely to reach a deal favourable to British interests.


In March 1800 Macdowall, with five companies of Madras foot, Malay infantry and Bengal artillerymen, was met just inside the Kandyan border by a reception force of 1,000 soldiers and seven elephants which was to escort them to Kandy itself. For 8 miles the men dragged the heavy guns through mud and fog, suffering blistering days and torrential nights. Progress was so slow that Macdowall left most of his column behind and continued with a few hundred Malays and Sepoys. Those he left behind at Ruwanwella were incapacitated by malaria, dysentery and other diseases known then by the catch-all ‘jungle fever’. Of the men on the march with him one died from disease, another by drowning and another in the jaws of a crocodile. Officers described the track up to the Kandyan plateau as ‘almost perpendicular’ in stretches. It was crowded by the British column and their Kandyan escort. Baggage trains jostled with troopers cursing their ill-luck.


Four weeks after leaving Colombo Macdowall reached the royal palace at Kandy. He was graciously received with courtesy, sweet cakes, honey . . . and a maze of baffling protocol. The king’s confidence and authority grew daily. Pilima Talauva demonstrated his wiles and cunning. The British ambassador could not penetrate the conflicting conspiracies. Neither could he perceive which faction to negotiate with. After several exasperating weeks his talks came to nothing.


Macdowall did achieve one thing. The £5,000 cost of the expedition had, in effect, financed a detailed reconnaissance of the hinterland, highlighting the need for proper transport and communication routes. It was a blueprint for future invasion. Valuable lessons were learnt, although most of them were subsequently forgotten.


The situation grew volatile. North, wearied by the endless negotiations, was moving towards a military solution. Kandy was also mobilizing for war. Troops were recruited from outlying villages and drilled in the defence of the city. The spark was provided by a seemingly trivial incident. Pilima Talauva, anxious to dispel rumours that he was a British agent and to promote his own authority, seized stocks of areca nuts from coastal traders and ignored British demands for compensation. There is much evidence that Pilima Talauva wanted to provoke an invasion. He may have hoped, after months of secret talks, that British action would destroy Sri Wikrama and leave him as a ‘client king’. From that ambition a tragedy was born.


* * *


At the start of 1803 Macdowall was ordered to retrace his footsteps to Kandy, this time at the head of a full invasion force. Colonel Barbut led another force from Trincomalee, a longer route.


Marching with jaunty confidence from Colombo, Macdowall’s force consisted of 1,900 fighting men: Britons of the 51st and 19th Foot, two companies of Bengal artillery, a company of Malays and 1,000 recruits to the Ceylon Native Infantry, plus many times that number of coolies, pioneers, drovers and ammunition carriers. Morale in the 51st was low after three years’ garrison duty. Some, like Macdowall, were hardened veterans of the Corsican campaign but others were regarded as ‘old men and boys’. The 19th was in better shape. Two of its companies had fought in the Mysore War a few years previously, while five more had seen action elsewhere and the rest had helped to suppress tax riots. They were relatively used to the climate, experienced and healthy. The Malay unit had a fearsome reputation for plunder and the swiftness of their krises. The Bengal gunners were battle-hardened. The Native Infantry, despite the name, consisted largely of recruits from India, Africa, Java and Malacca. Early attempts to recruit lowland Sinhalese had failed.


Macdowall chose a northerly route alongside the River Maha Oya, across level plains towards the massive escarpment that was their destination. The first stage was not arduous. The soldiers, hot and heavily laden, were greeted by friendly villagers anxious to sell them produce and cooling drinks. A supply depot was set up in the foothills and dubbed Fort Frederick. The next hilly stage proved more gruelling and the baggage train became an unwieldy burden. Even though most tents had been left at the depot the pack bullocks stumbled and the elephant handlers struggled to control their beasts. Macdowall was well aware of the need for a speedy and decisive campaign before the onset of the April rains, yet progress remained slow. Barbut suffered the same frustrations and setbacks as his column trundled slowly from the opposite direction.


First contact with the enemy came when troops surprised a Kandyan scouting party. A Malay was wounded but one prisoner was taken. He confirmed that the Kandyans were concentrating their forces around the capital, content to allow the mountains and jungle wear down the invaders. Macdowall met the first real resistance from a stone redoubt 50 ft above the track at Girihagama, close to the gateway to the plateau. Kandyans poured steady if inaccurate musket fire on a company of 19th Grenadiers before retreating through a rear door. They left a bloody trail as they dragged away their wounded. One Grenadier died, while another was lucky to survive a ball through a lung. The road to the capital was now open.


Barbut’s smaller column, with five companies of the 19th, more Malays and one company of Madras artillery, saw no enemy at all until they reached the Balakaduwa Pass. A cursory shelling sent the defenders fleeing and Barbut reached the top with no casualties. He saw Kandy City burning.


The two columns met at the outskirts of the city. They found only ashes and half-burned buildings. All the inhabitants, the king and his court, had simply decamped for the mountains of Uva, taking with them their treasures, religious relics, arms and provisions. There was no one to fight, nothing to loot, no glory to be had.


Meanwhile North, in a calculated gamble, recognized an alternative candidate for the Kandyan throne A dignified Malabar called Muttusamy, who was brother-in-law to the old dead king, was despatched with an escort to the now British-occupied capital. Once there Muttusamy proved difficult and refused to cede land to the British. It hardly mattered. Few others recognized the pretender. He was ignored by the city garrison and neighbouring villagers. He sat alone, save for a few servants, holding pathetic court in the charred remains of the royal palace.


The acknowledged king, Sri Wikrama, was 18 miles away in another palace at Hunguranketa. The British learnt this from the double-dealing Pilima Talauva. Two columns of 500 and 300 men were sent across the steaming mountainsides to capture the king. Within a few miles they suffered heavy fire from native gingals or ‘grasshopper’ guns which were highly effective when aimed down the narrow tracks. Several troopers were mown down but the columns marched steadily through the high-altitude swamps and thickets, sweeping the areas ahead with light artillery in the text-book fashion. On the second day they reached their target . . . only to find the king and his entourage had once again decamped. The frustrated force returned to the capital under sporadic fire. This time the Kandyans concentrated on killing the baggage handlers, a classic tactic of mountain warfare. Many officers believed that the failed pursuit of the king had been a cunning trap laid by the wily Pilima Talauva.


Conditions for the garrison in Kandy deteriorated fast. Troops unused to the jungle, worn out by patrolling the sodden hills and harried by snipers, quickly lost their spirit. Stragglers and those who wandered too far foraging were butchered. Small parties of coolies, some Sepoys, the wives of several Malay soldiers and one unnamed European were found cut to pieces in gullies and underbrush. Sri Wikrama promised villagers a bounty of 10 rupees for the head of a European and 5 for that of a native soldier. Supply lines to both Colombo and Trincomalee were repeatedly severed. The worst enemy of all was disease. It spread through the insanitary ruins of Kandy as the rainy season began. Malarial fever and yellow-jack slew European and native alike. So did beri-beri, dysentery and infected wounds. One officer wrote: ‘Nothing is so apt to bring on that plague, the berryberry, as low living and exposure to heavy dews.’ Of his company he reported 48 hospitalized and 4 dead. A few weeks later the death list had grown to 28. He wrote again: ‘If they keep us much longer in this hole you will see very few of these fine fellows.’ He warmly praised Barbut’s efforts to improve the conditions of the enlisted men. Macdowall’s force, pitifully reduced by disease and warfare, half-starved and demoralized, was no longer an army of occupation: they were prisoners in the Kandy rubble.


The Kandyans, though also suffering from fever, were moving freely. Large groups of warriors were sent into the Western and Northern provinces and the supply depot at Fort Frederick came under threat. The fort was abandoned although no enemy attackers were ever seen. By then most of its defenders, including the commander, Bullock, were dead of the fever.


North was unaware of the full danger but the campaign was proving miserable and costly. He dared not ask his overlords for reinforcements because of the more pressing priorities in India and war-torn Europe. His judgement in supporting Muttusamy was being called into question. Macdowall’s force was being whittled away in the mountains and the garrisons in the coastal provinces were fully stretched. North and Macdowall agreed to withdraw a large part of the Kandy force to the coast but the return routes were treacherous. Pilima Talauva offered an apparent solution: a truce in return for help in deposing the king. Or so the Adigar alleged. The ceasefire was eagerly accepted.


On 1 April Macdowall left Kandy with the bulk of his force, leaving Barbut in command of a garrison of 300 Green Howards, 700 Malays and a considerable number of hospital cases. The Kandyans kept to the truce and the returnees went unmolested. Some 400 survivors of the 51st were given a hero’s welcome in Colombo, having left 100 of their comrades dead or hospitalized in the mountains. Almost every man who returned was himself hospitalized and three months later barely 100 were left alive.


North opened new peace talks at Dambadeniya and Barbut briefly joined the parley. He gave a strangely positive report on conditions at Kandy, saying the fever would soon burn itself out. Barbut then collapsed, was taken delirious to Colombo and died some weeks later. At the peace conference Pilima Talauva agreed that the king should be handed over to the British along with much of eastern Ceylon. In return the Adigar would, with British blessing and support, rule over the reduced kingdom with the title Grand Prince. No one will ever know whether Pilima Talauva was serious. Some rumours suggest that the peace talks involved an unrealized plot to capture North. The Governor certainly believed the talks offered hope.


Macdowall was sent back, while the truce lasted, to replace Barbut in command in Kandy. What he found was shocking: the death toll was rising every day, the filthy hospital wards were crowded to bursting, the sick were too weak to stagger to the latrines. The rains were by now continuous and temperatures plunged at night. Food was scarce and rotten. Officers reported that few Europeans were capable of walking a mile. The coolies had fled. There were just three artillerymen fit for duty. The Malays lost thirty men dead in a month while others had deserted because of a dispute over 10 weeks’ missing back pay, and opium.


North suspected that the fragile truce would not last much longer. Spies reported that Pilima Talauva’s loyalty was suspect at Sri Wikrama’s court. Macdowall decided to return to Colombo to emphasize the growing peril and to stress the need to evacuate Kandy while the truce still held. The General was sick when he headed down the mountain track, leaving the charnel city in the charge of Major Adam Davie. Reluctant to take command, Davie fully admitted that he was an inexperienced officer who had seen no previous action during his year in Ceylon.


North finally agreed to bury his pride and issued orders for a full retreat from Kandy. Sadly, his orders came too late to halt the remorseless drift towards disaster.


* * *


The Kandyans were ready to strike. Levies had been raised by the king and his generals throughout the mountains. As the forces encircling the city grew in numbers and boldness, Pilima Talauva informed the hapless Davie that the truce had collapsed and an attack was imminent. The outlying posts were abandoned without a shot and Davie concentrated his dwindling command in the old royal palace, a rambling structure of interlocking compounds which included the makeshift hospital. He positioned four three-pounders to cover the main approaches. There were barely twenty European troops fit enough to join the Sepoys and Malays manning the defences. The palace would have been virtually indefensible even if Davie had had large numbers of operational troops under his command. The building was flanked on three sides by an ornamental wall, on the fourth by a flimsy stockade overlooked by a sheer cliff. That weak spot was covered by a three-pounder, a mortar and ten native troops. They were the first victims of a pre-dawn swoop.


Before daybreak on 24 June the little battery was overrun in total silence and the men captured. Two officers of the 19th who were talking on a verandah immediately below the outpost were unaware of the attack until by dawn’s early light they made out several hundred Kandyans swarming down the hillside. The attackers, led by the Malay mercenary chief Sanguaglo, stormed the stockade. They slashed Quartermaster Brown to death with their krises. His companion, Ensign Barry, parried several blows and stuck Sanguaglo with his bayonet. Major Davie appeared in the mêlée and finished off the chief with his sword. The subsequent confusion halted the attack, allowing hastily mustered gunners time to fire a round of grapeshot from a three-pounder. At point-blank range the effect was devastating. A ragged hole appeared in the Kandyan ranks; twenty-four of them dropped in bloody heaps and the rest retreated.


The Kandyans were alarmed at the firepower still at the disposal of the enfeebled garrison. They held back but maintained steady gunfire on all sides of the 800-yard perimeter. This caused few casualties but the covering fire allowed infiltrators to slip into the tangle of palace buildings. Native defenders saw several of their former comrades – deserters or captives – among the attackers, offering proof of good treatment if they surrendered. Four officers of the Malay regiments approached Davie to urge capitulation. When Davie refused, one officer bizarrely tried to blow his own brains out. Such madness had the desired effect. Davie, weakened by sickness and fear, decided the position was hopeless. Together with the Malay adjutant Captain Nouradin he left the stockade under a white flag.


Davie and Pilima Talauva agreed surrender terms which would allow the fit survivors to march freely to Trincomalee and safety. Those too sick to be moved would be tended where they lay until they either expired or could be evacuated. They were generous terms, unbelievably so given the circumstances.


In the late afternoon 34 Europeans, 250 Malays, Muttusamy and his entourage, a few Bengal gunners, native wives and children followed Davie out of the city. With them went the garrison’s two doctors, a sure sign that they regarded the surrender terms as too good to be true. The sick were left behind as the column marched off in torrential rain. The weather covered the sounds that emerged from the capital minutes later.


Thousands of Kandyans swarmed into the palace complex from all sides. In one long narrow room converted to hospital use they found 149 Europeans crammed side by side in cots and crude panniers, on stretchers and on the bare floor. Sergeant Theon, one of only two Europeans to survive, later described the horror: ‘They mostly knocked out the soldiers’ brains with clubs then pulled them out by the heels, the dead and the dying, threw many of them into a well and numbers of the bodies were left in the streets and devoured by dogs, but none were buried.’ Theon was knocked senseless. He awoke naked under a pile of bodies in the palace courtyard. As he struggled free a Kandyan soldier discovered him and hanged him from a beam. Astonishingly the rope broke before he strangled and he crawled to a hut to hide. A week later he was found again, taken captive and treated well. He lived in Kandy as a royal pensioner for twelve years, raising a son by his Muslim bride. The only officer left behind, Adjutant Plenderleath, was beaten to death with his men. There is no sure record of what happened to 23 Malays and 17 Moorish gunners left in a separate wing of the hospital. Some sources suggest they were victims of the general bloody frenzy, others that they were spared.


Unaware of the carnage behind him Major Davie and his column reached the swollen banks of the Mahaweli Ganga just before nightfall. After a night’s soaking they received an official delegation from King Sri Wikrama, who demanded that the usurper Muttusamy be handed over. Twice Davie refused, ignoring assurances that no harm would befall his charge. But his resolve collapsed on the third demand when he was told that 50,000 Kandyans were poised to attack. Muttusamy and his kinsmen were led away. They were later given a swift trial before the king. Muttusamy and three relatives were condemned and beheaded. Two servants were hanged and the rest released minus their ears and noses.


At the riverbank Davie’s men built bamboo rafts for a crossing. The next day they awoke to find themselves surrounded by Kandyans led by the ferocious Joseph Fernando. After tremendous difficulties a rope was secured across the river waters, only to be cut by natives on the other bank before any raft could be hauled across. Emissaries from the king issued new demands. Davie and his men must give up their arms and return to Kandy. Word had by then reached them of the massacre in the city and several old campaigners protested that only death awaited them there. Nevertheless Davie, exhausted and in despair, agreed to the new conditions.


The British and Asian troops were disarmed and separated. The Asians were sent back towards the city. The British troopers were in turn separated from the officers and taken a short distance away. They were robbed of any valuables and marched in pairs to a hollow hidden by thick vegetation. There they were cut down by swordsmen working in relays. Only one British soldier, Corporal George Barnsley, survived, feigning death after a neck blow had sliced his tendons.


The officers were dying too, some by their own hand. Three shot themselves, a fourth threw himself into the river. The majority were brained with clubs or put to the sword. Two officers, one of them Doctor Greeving who had deserted the hospital, slid down the tangled hillside unobserved and hid in a pit. They remained there for four days, covered by the bodies of dead comrades. The last two officers, Davie and his second-in-command Captain Rumley, were led out for execution but were saved by the timely arrival of Pilima Talauva who ordered them to be sent to the King.


The Asian troops were given the choice of death or service in the Kandyan army. Some, including Bengal gunners, protested that they had sworn an oath to the British king and could not bend their knee to Sri Wikrama. They were swiftly killed. The remainder joined the Kandyans.


A column was sent to take the small Fort Macdowall on the British supply line. En route they captured the wounded Corporal Barnsley, who had been heading in great pain in the same direction. The fort was held by Captain Madge with two officers, a surgeon, 22 Malays and 32 soldiers of the 19th, of whom 19 were too ill to move and the rest sick on their feet. The Kandyans sent Barnsley into the fort to relay terms. His first words to the astonished Madge were: ‘The troops in Kandy are all dished, your honour.’


His description of the mass murder by the river left Madge in no doubt that surrender was pointless and that he must do his best for those men capable of flight. He decided to evacuate the fort, leaving the immovable sick behind to certain death. Those who could walk, including Barnsley, crept out in the night after lighting lamps in the fort to fool the surrounding natives. They had been gone for some time before the Kandyans realized the fort was no longer defended. They followed in maddened pursuit, after first slaying the sick in their cots. Madge and his ill, weary and tattered little force fled through the jungle hills, harassed by the enemy all the way. It was a hideous and terrifying flight, with death snapping at their heels, but the soldiers kept their nerve and their luck held.


On the fourth day they met, by sheer good fortune, a column of 150 Malays. Together they were too strong for the Kandyans to tackle and the last three days to Trincomalee were unopposed. Perhaps the luckiest man of all was Barnsley. He survived the march and recovered from his gruesome wounds. He was promoted sergeant but quickly reduced to the ranks for drunkenness. In 1805 he was invalided home.


Among the British, Davie, now a pathetic, sick captive in Kandy, was held responsible for the whole military disaster. He was the obvious scapegoat. North was especially vitriolic, and was also determined to avoid any blame himself. In official reports North greatly exaggerated the strength of the garrison’s defences in Kandy. He made hardly any reference to the weakened condition of the troops under Davie’s command, the spread of epidemics and the strength of enemy forces fighting on their own terrain. Davie was certainly a poor commander, inadequate and indecisive, but he was not alone in that. Moreover, he had not sought out the job, fully recognizing his own shortcomings. His decisions to parley when in a hopeless situation and then to abandon Kandy were understandable. But his surrender on the riverbank, after hearing of the hospital massacre, was not.


There is still confusion over who ordered the massacre. Pilima Talauva could certainly be ruthless but he is an unlikely candidate. He was a crafty fox with his eye always on future negotiation, on keeping open avenues for intrigue. The evidence points at the hot-blooded young king, Sri Wikrama. According to some reports he was enraged at his chief minister’s decision to allow the British to leave Kandy under truce, revoked the safe conduct and ordered the killing to assert his authority. Later each man blamed the other. Whatever the truth the savagery in the hospital and on the riverbank must have been in part due to the bloodlust which leaders can often harness but not control. The Kandyans were, after all, defending their mountain realm from an invader. So far they had been spectacularly successful.


Davie was at first badly treated, his illnesses and sores neglected. Later the king, perhaps with feelings of remorse over the spilt blood, gave him medical aid, cash, presents and household servants. Everything, indeed, but his freedom. Repeated British efforts to achieve his release failed. In one message passed to Colombo he said: ‘Let not my friends know I am alive as I expect not to survive for many days.’ He became a familiar figure in the kingdom, ragged and depressed and possibly half mad. He never tried to escape. His body broken by illness, his will-power sapped by the shame of ignoble defeat, Davie died still a captive in either 1812 or 1813.


* * *


One small fort, Dambadeniya, was left in Kandyan territory. It was a simple staging post. Behind its rough earth banks and a flimsy barricade of stacked rice bags were thirty-six troopers and Malays under Ensign Grant. All the men had fever to varying degrees and Grant himself could barely walk. The fort soon came under strong attack. The besiegers under Migastenna kept up continuous sniping fire and each day emissaries were sent to demand surrender. Grant stubbornly – and sensibly – refused. After a two-week siege, rescue came with the arrival of Captain Robert Blackall at the head of a relief column. The Kandyans pulled back. Grant was ordered to return to Colombo after first destroying the fort’s large store of provisions. In doing so several soldiers drank copiously from stocks of arak, a fiery native liquor. One drunken Briton and several Sepoys lagged behind as the column marched out of the fort. Their bodies were never found.


The British soldiers remaining in their coastal towns and garrisons were now seriously depleted by war and sickness. At the beginning of the year their forces had numbered more than 5,000 able-bodied men; just six months later 2,000 of them were dead or missing while most of the rest were ill. The hospitals in those pre-Nightingale days were full to choking and few men were fit for duty. Opposing them were tens of thousands of Kandyans who might at any time sweep down from the highlands and swamp the thinly spread garrisons. Fortunately the British were given a breathing space. The Kandyans suspended warfare to celebrate their Perahera, the biggest religious festival of the year. While the Kandyans rejoiced and caroused, Macdowall strengthened his defences. Convalescents dug ditches alongside the few fit men.


Their festivities over the Kandyans attacked and together with lowland Sinhalese swarmed around the British-held forts. The first strike was against Matara in the south. Its commander was paralysed with fear and North sent the remarkable Captain Beaver to replace him. Only just out of the fever-bed, the forty-year-old officer took sixty hours to cover 103 miles, some of that over sea. Within two days he had driven the enemy from the vicinity of the fort. A few days later he forced the Kandyans out of an outlying post previously abandoned to them. Within a few weeks, with only 60 European troops, 140 Sepoys and 170 Malays, Beaver had subdued the entire Southern province.


Colombo itself was threatened by a large force which halted 5 miles from the city. The beleaguered North had no effective troops, only a hastily raised militia of 500 men. From this, Macdowall put together a tiny strike force under Lieutenant Mercer and sent them out to meet the enemy head on. The Kandyans, taken by surprise, fled back across their border, leaving prisoners and dead.


Throughout the coastal provinces the pattern was repeated. Instead of waiting passively behind their rough barricades, the British commanders sallied out and harried the Kandyan attack columns, creating dismay, confusion and panic. Attack did indeed prove the best form of defence. The tactic was so successful that the Kandyans only managed to lay proper siege to one fort, a tiny outpost at Chilaw close to the kingdom’s border. As many as 3,000 attackers faced two young civil servants and sixty native troops. When their grapeshot ran out the defenders fired nothing but powder from their small cannon, hoping that the noise and smoke alone would dissuade the enemy from making an overwhelming frontal attack. The ploy worked and the Kandyans withdrew after four days.


Sri Wikrama now decided to lead a new attack on Colombo, marching in person at the head of an army of Malabar Guards, Malays and 12,000 Kandyans. In his path lay the ruined fort of Hanwella, commanded by the doughty Lieutenant Mercer. The king’s men attacked on 3 September but were repulsed. A second attack the following day also failed, despite the ramshackle defences, but left most of the small garrison wounded. Mercer himself was extremely sick. Captain William Pollock rode from Colombo, dodged the encircling enemy, and took command of fewer than a hundred men in poor condition. The Kandyans bombarded the dilapidated stone walls with three- and six-pounders serviced by Bengal and Madras artillery lascars captured at Kandy. Those gunners deliberately loaded the cannon with grape instead of ball, which splattered harmlessly against the fort’s walls. Others set the angle of fire too high so that the shot whizzed overhead. Unaware that the cannonade had been ineffectual, the Kandyans rushed to attack but halted 200 yards from the muzzles of the defenders crouched below the low parapets. The attackers were packed into the steel jaws of an ambush, caught in an open killing ground.


Mercer, with half the garrison, had crawled into the jungle bordering the clearing. Now they opened fire, tearing great holes in the Kandyan flank. Their volley was also the signal for the fort’s cannon to open up with grapeshot, with brutal effect. Pollock and his infantry sallied out in orderly ranks, pouring volley after volley into the struggling, panicking, dying mass of humanity. The carnage continued for two hours. Only a handful of Malay mercenaries were able to return fire. At last the gunfire was stilled as the last survivors escaped. Eight Kandyan soldiers and much weaponry were captured. Much to their delight 176 gun lascars rejoined the British. The following day they helped bury 270 Kandyans where they had fallen in that awful field. The death toll was much higher. All paths leading away from the clearing were choked with the bodies of those who had fled mortally wounded. The garrison suffered just two casualties and both survived.


Sri Wikrama and his court followers took to their heels, leaving behind sharpened posts upon which he had intended to impale British captives. He blamed his general at Hanwella, Levuke Rala, for the disaster and had him beheaded. The leading troops, those who survived, were ordered to work on a 2,000-acre paddyfield as punishment. Three days later Pollock, reinforced by Europeans from Colombo, crossed the Kandy border in pursuit. Across the Kelani River the king’s army was camped at Ruwanwella, protected by well-placed batteries. A British detachment forded the river under intense but ineffective fire, seized one of the gun emplacements and killed all twenty-six defenders. The Kandyans, hugely superior in numbers but dispirited and caught between military pincers, again fled in terror, narrowly escaping Pollock’s attempt to entrap them in another killing ground. Pollock destroyed tons of stores at Ruwanwella and burnt over 1,000 huts, denying the enemy food and shelter. It was the start of a scorched-earth policy.


Pollock returned to Colombo a hero, the saviour of the city. His extraordinary verve, audacity and ruthlessness were matched in smaller episodes across the provinces. British officers led small forces deep into Kandyan-held territory using speed and surprise as their main weapon. They also savagely suppressed Sinhalese communities which showed any sign of rebelling and joining the enemy. Captain Robert Blackall boasted of burning ninety-three villages and extensive paddyfields without a single casualty among his men. Fishing fleets were burnt to the waterline and scuttled, crops were destroyed and several village leaders were flogged to death. No records exist to reveal how many died of famine or exposure but the numbers must have been high. The British were no doubt partly motivated by a desire to avenge the Kandy massacres. However, their brutal methods certainly worked in military terms. The Kandyans were denied the countryside and potential rebels were terrorized into submission. Much of the lowlands were laid waste but at least the coastal garrisons and trading ports were no longer under threat.


Reinforcements finally arrived from India and the Eastern Islands to defend Trincomalee, now virtually denuded of fighting men through sickness. To strengthen the other forts African slaves were bought at £37 a head, including purchase, ‘freight’, provisions and agents’ fees, in the Mozambique markets to serve as mercenary soldiers. The purchase caused controversy. The negroes were regarded as a bargain: they were easy to administer and well suited to the tropics – and the natives of Sri Lanka viewed them with terror.


Macdowall’s period of service now came to an end. He was often blamed for the Kandy disaster but his masterly conduct of the war in the provinces redeemed him in the eyes of his superiors. He was promoted commander-in-chief at Madras but quickly fell out with the civil authorities. He died in 1809, shipwrecked on his voyage home to Britain. His successor in Ceylon took command in March 1804. Major-General David Wemyss was, at forty-four, a veteran of campaigning in the Americas, Flanders and Italy. His military experience was never in doubt but he lacked the tact needed to deal with civilians. The delicate relationship between Governor and military overlord was shattered when Wemyss clashed with North over field allowances. He outraged Moslem Sepoys by ordering them to attend divine service. He quarrelled with judges over the use of a parade ground. He challenged civilian rivals to duels. Relations became so fraught that North drew up contingency plans to have Wemyss arrested if necessary. Such squabbling undermined the British counter-attacks. The raids continued with mixed success. Wemyss divided his forces into smaller units stretched around a 700-mile frontier. He maintained a blockade to deprive the Kandyans of salt and other commodities.


Pilima Talauva continued to play an apparent double-game. He kept up a regular correspondence with the British, at one stage proposing a peace conference at which his own most troublesome and war-hungry ministers could be snatched. North rejected all proposals which left Sri Wikrama on the throne. He was determined on a further offensive to depose the king and avenge the massacre. The coastal campaigns had shown how effective light mobile columns could be, even against an enemy fighting on home ground. North proposed a three-month campaign with British-led forces striking throughout the island in fast-moving columns up to 600 men strong. Preparations were made for September when the monsoon season ended. Until then warfare was suspended.


* * *


During a tour of the garrisons Wemyss met Captain Arthur Johnston, the commander at Fort Batticaloa. Johnston knew the country well and was experienced in jungle warfare. He had been one of the lucky ones evacuated from the hospital at Kandy before the slaughter. He must have made a good impression because soon afterwards he received secret papers ordering him to prepare a strong force to march on Kandy. Similar columns, he was told, would converge from other garrisons around the coast to meet on the heights above the city on 28 September. However, the wording of the instructions was ambiguous, the routes to be taken were vague and the timings imprecise. A second set of orders was even more confusing. It was the beginning of an almighty débâcle.


Putting aside any doubts Johnston set off on the 20th with two officers and 70 men of the 19th, a sergeant and 6 gunners of the Royal Artillery. They were joined upriver by 53 Malays and 175 Sepoys. In addition there were 550 pioneers and coolies with ponderous bullocks to carry the supplies. A fast-moving strike force it was not.


Johnston’s column moved through a region devastated by smallpox and crossed the border into the wild uplands. The hills were desolate and empty. The Kandyans had learnt well from the British scorched-earth tactics. Every village on Johnston’s route had been cleared, its stores and animals dispersed. The march was exhausting from the start and after a week some men were sent back with the fever. Ominously, a Kandyan sharpshooter, captured in a skirmish with snipers, told Johnston that there were no reports of other columns invading the kingdom from other directions. Puzzled, or perhaps dismissive, Johnston pressed on.


On the tenth day they reached the banks of the Mahaweli Ganga and crossed its turbulent waters by raft. Ahead lay a tortuous trail through jungle, jagged rocks and ravines to the royal city of Hanguranketa: it was a three-day slog, harassed by sniper fire which killed one soldier and uncounted coollies and bullocks. On the last day they traversed a narrow ridge, inching along artificial footways from which several pack animals crashed with their precious loads into the gorge below. That night Johnston camped in a state of almost total exhaustion. His men were roused by musket fire which was too high to do any harm. The attackers were beaten off by Sepoy pickets and suffered heavy casualties.


The column continued along the riverside, hemmed in between rock and stormy waters, and under continuous fire from the opposite bank. The noise maddened the bullocks and some broke free, adding to the confusion on the narrow pathways. After 3 painstaking miles their progress was blocked by a large house which had been turned into a fort, supported by a battery on the far bank. It seemed impregnable, but the defenders put up only token resistance before fleeing. After a night of intermittent cannon fire Johnston sent a small squad across the river to take the battery from the rear. The unexpected raid worked smoothly and the emplacement was abandoned. Within an hour Johnston captured a small palace nearby at Kundasale. The fine building was richly carved and gilded but its cellars were packed with munitions. Johnston reluctantly torched the lot.


Once again a British-led force found the road to Kandy City open. Apart from some long-range musket fire from the hills above it was undefended. Once again the city they found was deserted, save for a woman and a small boy. They marched into the eerie city streets on 6 October. There was no sign of any other British column. They encamped in the royal palace, long since cleansed of the blood of their forerunners. A Malay officer, captured by the Kandyans during an earlier expedition but now escaped, brought Johnston fearful news. Six British columns had indeed set out but the other five had either turned back or were beaten back. They were on their own.


Johnston was by now fully aware of his desperate predicament. He had succeeded only in taking an empty city. The Kandyans were gathering in the mountains around the city, waiting only for sickness and desertion to sap his strength before attacking. Already disease was cutting into his defences and the men were running low on ammunition and supplies. They were jittery and unnerved. Some raided arak stores and got dismally drunk. The native troops heard shouts from former comrades urging them to join them in the hills, to fight for riches rather than the Crown. A sensible and diligent officer, Johnston decided his first duty was to his men. Staying would be suicidal. So too would be a retreat along the route they had taken. Instead he decided to move his little army to the left bank of the Mahaweli Ganga where they could construct better defences. After just two days in the empty city they marched out at dawn and met a grisly scene: skeletons dangled brokenly from treetops. They were the remains of Davie’s officers. The bones of his enlisted men lay where they had been butchered near the river ferry, a place known afterwards as the Shore of Blood.


Johnston’s force crossed the river on two small rafts and established a bridgehead by dislodging enemy soldiers at bayonet point. The action caused him to think again. The difficult crossing, the increasing boldness of the Kandyans and the dwindling stocks of ammunition persuaded him it would be folly to stay. He set off in the opposite direction to his incoming route, towards Trincomalee. Each man was issued with six days’ rations and the surviving bullocks were destroyed.


They fought their way up a hillside track, scrambling over tree trunks felled by the enemy, charging over a series of breastworks, and took the summit, with 13 soldiers and 30 coolies killed or wounded. Days of ferocity followed. They hacked and shot and clawed their way through the dense jungle of Matale. Kandyan raids became confused mêlées, with bayonet and musket butt matched against sword and spear. Powder was wet, the ammunition all but gone, and shooting was rare in the close-quarter fighting. A company of the 19th moved forward so fast it became separated from the rest of the column. Johnston and his men battled on through bloody encounters, sweltering days, rain-soaked dusks and cold nights, as sickness and wounds multiplied. Coolies deserted in terror, leaving behind wounded soldiers who were captured, trussed up like chickens and carried off to torture and eventual, welcome, death. More of the injured were abandoned when their comrades lacked the strength to carry them further. The march of death continued to Lake Minneriya where the column caught up with the missing vanguard and the Kandyan attacks diminished. By now Johnston was so ill with dysentery he had to be carried in a cloak, his body dangerously weakened, his spirits low, his mind troubled by fears that he faced a court martial for retreating from Kandy without orders.


Johnston’s column marched into Trincomalee ‘cold, wet, dirty and lousy,’ according to one observer. ‘Almost naked, many barefooted and maimed, officers and all alike starved and shrivelled,’ said another. Every soldier was admitted to hospital and there almost all of them died. Johnston’s march had proved as deadly as the Kandy massacre. And it had all been for nothing. The epic and heroic adventure had been the result of a communications blunder. Johnston learnt that the second set of vague orders received from Wemyss weeks before should have cancelled the march on Kandy City. The British columns were merely intended to enter the kingdom, inflict the greatest possible devastation to avenge the massacre, and then retire. The other columns had done just that, suffering minimal casualties, and returned to the safety and comfort of their barracks.


Johnston was exonerated at a court of inquiry which praised his courage and skill. Indeed he was commended for the way he had held his disparate force together in seemingly impossible conditions and against massive odds. He survived his illness and served in Sri Lanka for another six years but the after-effects of his ordeal were blamed for his eventual death in 1824. In a bitter postscript to the march Sergeant Henry Craven was sentenced to transportation for life for abandoning four of his wounded men to certain death on the trail. He died of fever before he could be shipped to Botany Bay.


While Johnston had been fighting his way to and from Kandy other British forces had been busy on punitive raids. One column caused widespread destruction in the Western province to within one day’s march of Kandy City. Another column made an unsuccessful bid to capture Pilima Talauva. The Kandyans in turn launched attacks on British regions but they were half-hearted and easily repulsed. A familiar pattern was repeated as the British counter-attacked across a lush countryside raped by war, starvation and smallpox. The war was dragging to an inconclusive end.


Governor North was exhausted by the effort. He wrote to London asking to be relieved because of his ‘shattered and unstrung’ nerves. He confessed uncertainty over whether he had acted ‘like a good politician or a great nincompoop’. North had done his best and his achievements were fully recognized. He reformed the island’s civil administration, improved revenue, abolished torture and established a modern system of public instruction. With hindsight he was often too impatient to see his changes through and it was his vision of ruling all Ceylon which had caused the war. On returning to England he came into the title Earl of Guildford and travelled extensively in Europe. He set up the Ionian University in Corfu. That experiment failed amid much ridicule and he died in 1827.


On 17 July 1805 he was replaced by Major-General Sir Thomas Maitland who, because of his extensive Army background and political contacts, took both full civil and military authority. Wemyss was ousted, much to his own disgust but to the relief of many others. Maitland was a Scots aristocrat, a veteran administrator and a realist. He set himself the task of ending the costly war, reducing all military spending and sorting out Ceylon’s crippled economy. With warfare virtually at a standstill Maitland managed to both cut the armed forces and increase their efficiency. He tackled with gusto the corruption behind much of the discontent felt by lowland Sinhalese. He issued a statement rejecting any more ‘foolish expeditions’, adding: ‘I shall not throw away the lives of His Majesty’s subjects by disease in burning and destroying the defenceless huts of the innocent natives.’


Within two months he approached the Kandy priesthood seeking a peace treaty. Such a pact proved elusive, although 300 captured Malays and Sepoys were freed. Nothing was signed but tacitly the two warring neighbours agreed to leave each other alone. The disastrous war simply petered out and there was relative peace for ten years.


* * *


King Sri Wikrama grew in stature and power. He had begun his reign as the puppet of his chief minister but he became a self-confident autocrat as Pilima Talauva’s influence waned. The two men quarrelled incessantly. The arch-plotter hatched a plan to assassinate the king and take the realm by force without the British assistance he had cultivated during years of war. The revolt was premature and easily crushed. Pilima Talauva and his son-in-law were captured and beheaded. Six minor chiefs were impaled in a circle around them.


Maitland grew sick of dealing directly with the Kandyan royal house. He and his envoys made deals with important chieftains and created a web of secret alliances which undermined the king. When war inevitably broke out again a British invasion force once more tramped the hilltop paths. This time it met little resistance and the campaign was over in forty days. The king was deposed and Kandy ceded to the Empire by a convention signed by the chiefs on 2 March 1815. It pledged the British to honour Kandyan customs, protect the power and privileges of the chiefs and guarantee as ‘inviolable’ the rites of Buddhism. Sri Wikrama himself was captured and in January 1816 he was sent with his wives to Madras. More than 2,000 years of Sinhalese independence was over. His kingdom was plundered. The king’s personal treasure and royal regalia were dispersed among friend and foe. Part was later recovered by the authorities and sold by auction in Colombo. It raised £3,840 for the Prize Fund which, as was Army practice at the time, was to be shared out among the victors. Exquisitely crafted gold and jewelled artefacts were broken up for the worth of their base metal. Others simply vanished into the bags of officers and men. They can still be found in the dusty glass cases and vaults of British country houses and provincial museums.


Sri Wikrama lived in rich exile until 1832 when he died of dropsy. He was fifty-two. He had been condemned during his lifetime as a butcher and a despot. He had also been exalted as a protector of his people and culture against British expansionism, a leader who had defied the mighty Empire and slaughtered its armies. Both were true.


In 1818 a full-scale rebellion was suppressed, the power of the chiefs reduced and heavier taxes imposed. Minor outbreaks occurred in the Highlands throughout the 1820s, followed by a bloodless revolt in 1834 and more bloodshed in 1848. But it can be argued that colonial rule delivered a century of peace until rioting between Tamils and Sinhalese began in 1958. That violence escalated during the following decades into a vicious civil war.


Sri Lanka is a paradise ruined by greed and hatred. It is bleeding again.




TWO


The Falklands, 1833


‘Rejoice, rejoice’


The first clash of arms on the remote, wind-lashed Falklands (or Malvinas) occurred almost 150 years before a much larger conflict. It was not a war, rather a brief outburst of butchery involving just a handful of men, but the passions involved had vastly bloodier echoes many generations later. It too involved sea voyages across huge distances, diplomatic bungling and a power struggle over specks in the ocean once thought worthless.


It is as a precursor of the 1982 Falklands War – itself considered the last of British Empire-style small wars – that it is included here.


* * *


The Falklands, or the Malvinas, those desolate, remote, beautiful, storm-tossed islands in the South Atlantic, have always been dogged by controversy, including who it was that first set eyes on them. Argentinians claim it was Spain’s Amerigo Vespucci in 1502 but there is precious little evidence to support this. England’s John Davies claimed to have seen them in 1592 but that may have been wishful thinking. The best contender was neither Spanish nor British, but the Dutch adventurer Sebald de Weert, on 16 January 1600, and for many years the Falklands were called the Sebald Islands by Dutch cartographers. But there is no doubt that the first landfall was made in 1690 by John Strong, a Plymouth sea captain.


During much of the eighteenth century the islands were used as a staging post for British and French ships heading for the Horn. Both nations established small communities because of their trade and political interests in the South American continent. Spain paid France to abandon all claims to the islands and the British withdrew their settlers in 1774.


The Spanish established a colony on the main western island and ships’ captains registered the few babies born there as Spanish. But across the Falklands Sound on the eastern island the crews of British and American sealing and whaling ships put in regularly, establishing permanent encampments. They recognized no Spanish sovereignty, nor indeed any laws but self-preservation and the common good of their fellow seamen.


In 1820 the Argentinian Government in Buenos Aires sent an American, Colonel David Jewett, to take possession of the islands. He found fifty ships sheltering in the jagged coves, vessels registered from Liverpool to New York. His dictates were ignored by the tough, weather-forged seamen and, unable to exercise any control, he returned to Argentina.


In 1829 Buenos Aires contracted a Franco-German immigrant, Louis Vernet, to establish a settlement at Port Louis on the eastern island. He set off with several English families, Germans, blacks, gauchos, Indians and transported felons. He found seventy settlers, mainly English, ahead of him. He organized his workforce and rounded up the wild cattle, and paid an English seaman, Matthew Brisbane, to patrol the coast in his schooner Elbe, collecting taxes. The captain of the American vessel Harriet refused to pay the required levy and the ship was impounded pending a court hearing in the Argentine capital. In retaliation Captain Silas Duncan of the USS Lexington was despatched to the islands. He took a number of colonists prisoner and ordered his crew to destroy as much of Vernet’s settlement as possible. He arrested Brisbane and took him to Buenos Aires where the legal ramifications of the whole affair were thrashed out.


Port Louis had not yet been properly rebuilt in 1832 when a sergeant, José Francisco Mestivier, was appointed Governor of what the Spanish now called the Malvinas. José María Pinedo, commander of the Sarandi, replaced Brisbane as guardian of the coastline. Mestivier found the small army of colonists in rebellious mood, demanding the back pay which Vernet had promised them. Numbers of felons mutinied and Mestivier was cut down and slain. Pinedo took command and captured the mutineers with a detachment of his crew. He had no sooner done so when on 2 January 1833 Captain John James Onslow of the newly arrived HMS Clio informed him that he was claiming the islands for the British Crown. Pinedo, his own force weakened and demoralized, did not resist. The Argentine flag was lowered at Port Louis. Argentina later described the ‘invasion’ as an act of colonial piracy, a view which continues to feature in its school books. Pinedo with his men, some settlers and his prisoners sailed for Buenos Aires. Seven mutineers accused of Mestivier’s murder were swiftly executed.


Captain Onslow, thirty-six years old, had served off the coasts of Spain, Jamaica and South America. His ancestors included a former Speaker of the House of Commons. His father, Admiral Sir Richard Onslow, had been a doughty fighter in the Napoleonic Wars. After a period chasing smugglers as Commander of the Coast Guard at Great Yarmouth the younger Onslow had been put in charge of the 18-gun, 389-ton sloop Clio in 1830 as she was being fitted out for the South American station. After his success Onslow ordered storekeeper William Dickson, an Irishman not highly regarded by visiting British officers, to fly a Union Jack whenever a ship anchored off the colony. He called in the farmworkers and labourers employed by Vernet and offered them a deal: they would continue their work and if within five months no one returned to pay them they could take the equivalent of their wages in wild cattle. Onslow set sail, either unaware of or indifferent to the potential trouble he left behind him. His offer was effectively a licence to rustle.


The colonists tried to return to normal under the new flag, isolated from international power play. Brisbane returned as superintendent of Vernet’s business projects. Charles Darwin called for a few days on board HMS Beagle. The workmen faced appalling weather and grumbled about their unpaid wages as their debts mounted in Dickson’s store. After five months the men tried to claim the cattle they had been promised but Brisbane and Dickson prevented that happening.


The mood in Port Louis – by now reduced to 21 men and 3 women – turned ugly. Legitimate grievances spawned talk of violence. Eight men, led by 26-year-old Antonio Rivero from Buenos Aires, plotted to take forcibly what they considered their due. They were initially deterred by the presence of Captain William Low, a sealing sailor and businessman, and nine seamen who were awaiting repatriation after their vessel had been sold. But at dawn on 26 August 1833 Low and four of his men sailed out of Berkley Sound for a brief seal hunt. Rivero saw his opportunity and struck with his followers, two gauchos and five Indian convicts. Their targets were settlement leaders they believed had wronged them, and what followed was certainly premeditated murder. They armed themselves with muskets, pistols, swords and knives and headed for Brisbane’s house.


Brisbane was shot and killed. The captain of the gauchos, an Argentine representative called Juan Simón, was hacked to death with swords, as was the storekeeper Dickson. A German named Anton Wagnar was also slain in the murderous spree. A witness to the killings, Ventura Pasos, tried to flee but was brought down by an Indian’s bolas. He was stabbed to death by Rivero. The murdered men, all unarmed, were the principals of the settlement.


The other colonists, mainly Argentinians, escaped from Port Louis. A dozen men, the women and two children took shelter in a cave on Hog Island at the head of Berkley Sound a few miles away. The rebels rampaged through the settlement, looting every home, and then drove the disputed cattle inland.


It was another two months before relief came, on 23 October, in the shape of the British survey ship Hopeful. Its captain offered help to the settlers but was unable to chase the renegades inland. He found the settlement ‘ravaged’. He sent a message, warning ‘if an English ship of war does not arrive here soon, more murders will take place’, to the British South Atlantic commander in Rio de Janeiro who despatched HMS Challenger. On 7 January 1834 Lieutenant Henry Smith, appointed Officer Commander of East Falkland Island, stepped ashore with six Marines.


Smith, who had volunteered for the Navy in 1810, had enjoyed a moderately distinguished war service. He had specific instructions to keep the British flag flying over the Falklands, for which he was given an allowance of seven shillings in addition to naval half-pay. He was just in time to save the colonists huddled on Hog Island, who had lived largely on seabirds’ eggs, from further attack. The Union Jack was hoisted while Challenger provided a 21-gun salute.


Smith and his men set after the Rivero mutineers. They combed the Eastern islands on horse and foot, relying on informants and dogged pursuit. Rivero, meantime, was negotiating with the master of the US ship Antarctic the sale of a fat cow and six steers. Smith heard of the deal from a missionary but Rivero vanished. His escape did not last long: his hiding place was betrayed by friends seeking amnesty and he surrendered to Smith. There was no further violence.


Rivero and five fellow renegades were sent in chains to Rio de Janeiro and then on to London. A court there refused to accept a trial because of confusion over whose jurisdiction the crimes came under. The Argentinian Government had already lodged a strong protest over the British occupation of the Malvinas and Britain did not want to spark further complaints about abuse of Rivero’s human and legal rights. To avoid further antagonism the Rivero party was quietly shipped back across the Atlantic and put ashore at Montevideo later that year. The murder and carnage they had inflicted on unarmed men was forgotten. The Commander-in-Chief in Rio, Rear-Admiral Sir Graham Eden Hamond, conceded, ‘It is a very slovenly way of doing business.’


Smith, meanwhile, was left virtually unaided to make the islands both secure for Britain and self-sufficient so they would not be a drain on the Crown. That task he set about with gusto, raising potatoes and corn, taming cattle and horses, cultivating and improving soil, repairing shelters vandalized by American and British sealers. By the time he was recalled he had built up stockpiles of supplies and seeds, and 350 tame cattle for slaughter. He had also made the Crown 4,200 Spanish dollars by the sale of 850 hides.


The Falklands formally became a British overseas colony in 1841. Argentina offered to accept that provided a previous loan was cancelled. The offer was declined and the islands have been in dispute ever since, with tragic consequences in 1982. The British taxpayer has shouldered the burden.




THREE


The Flagstaff War, 1845–6


‘Opening the doors of a monster furnace’


The Maori was arguably the Victorian soldier’s most formidable foe, and one he never properly beat. Yet the story of campaigns in the stinking mud and dense jungles of New Zealand, as fierce as any, is now an almost forgotten chapter in the forging of an Empire.


The first Maori War on North Island erupted four years after New Zealand became a colony. It was, absurdly, sparked by the destruction of a flagpole but there was nothing comical about the way the natives fought. The British forces expected to subdue a band of naked, undisciplined savages. Instead they faced a sophisticated warrior class, as disciplined as any Empire troops and often better equipped with more modern firearms. Instead of hit and run skirmishes and mopping up operations against defenceless villages the British repeatedly found themselves laying siege to strong, intricate fortresses complete with gun emplacements, rifle pits and bomb shelters. It was in part a throwback to medieval siege warfare, in part a foretaste of the trenches in a later, bigger war.


The British fighting men quickly recognized an equal adversary and their journals lack the sneering contempt for natives found in other colonial wars. Despite instances of cruel torture and possible cannibalism the historian Sir John Fortescue could later write: ‘The British soldier held him in the deepest respect, not resenting his own little defeats, but recognising the noble side of the Maori and forgetting his savagery.’


* * *


It was 800 years since the Maoris, a Polynesian people, had discovered Aotearoa, the land of the long, white cloud. In that time they had developed, through tribal disputes over land and honour, a fast and furious form of warfare. Fleet-footed warriors, armed with spears or clubs edged with razor coral, would charge straight through the enemy, striking only one blow and running on to another. The crippled enemy would be finished off by those coming behind. In a rout one man, if he were fast enough, could stab or club ten or more. To counter such raiding tactics the tribes built complex fortifications on hilltops, surrounded by ditches, palisades and banks. Over 4,000 such sites have been found in modern times, each providing evidence of communal defence and organized labour among forty tribes whose total population was somewhere between 100,000 and 300,000. The French explorer Marian du Fresne who sailed into the Bay of Islands in 1772 wrote: ‘At the extremity of every village and on the point which jutted furthest into the sea, there was a public place of accommodation for all the inhabitants.’


Captain James Cook’s 1777 journals described a fertile land of spectacular beauty inhabited by natives who, while aggressive, were intelligent and willing to trade. By the turn of the century European and American traders and whalers were using the Bay of Islands on the northern peninsula as a base. The settlement of Kororareka became a rowdy frontier town, a place of grog-shops, gambling dens and at least one brothel where pretty native girls exchanged their charms for liquor. It was known as the hell-hole of the Pacific. The Maori tribes traded extensively with the incomers and grew rich in the twin benefits of civilization – alcohol and modern firearms. The Colonial Office in London finally shook itself out of torpor and in 1840 the Union Flag was hoisted above the town, shortly before the rest of New Zealand came under the Crown.


The Maoris were – and remain – a tribal people with a strong sense of honour, of respect for the family, of a mystical sense of one-ness with their land. Children were taught that the land was sacred and that an insult must always be avenged. One proverb ran: ‘The blood of man is land.’ They were happy to trade with the white man but trouble flared when the Europeans began, slowly at first, to buy up, settle and fence off the ancient Maori homelands. More settlers flooded in. Land sharks from Sydney persuaded some chiefs to sell at rock bottom prices, creating a norm. It is a sickeningly familiar story of avaricious newcomers playing on the naive greed of individual chiefs at the expense of all.


The Colony’s new Lieutenant-Governor Captain William Hobson set out in 1840 to defuse an explosive situation. He decreed that no land could be bought from the Maoris except through the Crown. He called a meeting of the chiefs at Waitangi and proposed a treaty in which they would cede their sovereignty to the British Queen in return for guarantees that they would retain undisputed possession of their remaining lands. Among the chiefs to speak in favour was Hone Heke Pokai of the Ngaphui. He argued that the only alternative was to see their strength sapped by ‘rum sellers’. Five hundred chiefs signed the treaty.


A band of adventurers calling themselves the New Zealand Company had meanwhile established themselves near Wellington and declared that the treaty was not binding on them. After disputes over who owned what Hobson set up a land commission to investigate competing claims between the Company and the tribes. In July 1843 the Company clashed with two major chiefs, Te Rauparaha and his nephew Te Rangihaeata, over a slab of land just across the Cook Strait on South Island. Warriors harassed a survey team led by Captain Arthur Wakefield. The officer foolishly tried to arrest the two chiefs but in a confused mêlée succeeded only in shooting dead Te Rangihaeata’s wife. The enraged warriors took a terrible revenge and when the skirmish was over nineteen Englishmen and four Maoris were dead.


In the Colony’s new capital of Auckland the Governor believed that the massacre had been provoked. The settlers, however, demanded military protection and Hobson sent 150 men from the North and further reinforcements from New South Wales. The tension quickly faded and there was no more bloodshed around Wellington. The reinforcements were sent back to Australia after missionaries complained about their drunkenness and fornication.


In the Bay of Islands the slaughter of the Englishmen had a profound impact on the mind of Hone Heke. He was a renowned warrior by birth and experience, in his mid-thirties, described by one officer as ‘a fine looking man with a commanding countenance and a haughty manner’. He was not as heavily tattooed as other chiefs and had a prominent nose and a long chin. Like many of his people he was a Christian convert, having renounced youthful slaughter to train at Henry Williamson’s mission station. Although he had backed British rule at Waitangi he had since become disillusioned. The new government encouraged the whalers to find new ports and trade with the Maoris subsequently declined. Customs duties on those ships calling into port replaced the native tolls. The living standards of his people suffered. American and French traders, jealous of British annexation, told Heke that the Union Flag represented slavery for natives and he began to see the flagstaff above Kororakeke township as a sign that the British intended stealing all tribal lands. It became an obsession with him. When Heke heard of the massacre in the south he asked: ‘Is Te Rauparaha to have the honour of killing all the pakehas (white men)?’


In July 1844 he raided Kororareka to take home a Maori maiden living shamefully with a white butcher. The woman had previously been one of Heke’s servants and at a bathing party on the beach she referred to him as a ‘pig’s head’. Almost as an afterthought a sub-chief cut down the flagstaff. His bloodless action triggered a bizarre charade. A new pole was erected by the garrison, now reinforced by 170 men of the 99th Lanarkshire Regiment sent from Australia. Heke cut it down. Another replaced it, only to be chopped down a third time. The matter became a test of wills when Governor Hobson died and he was replaced by Captain Robert Fitzroy, better known now as the captain of the Beagle during the voyage of Charles Darwin. He ordered a taller and stronger pole to be erected – an old ship’s mizzen mast – defended by a stout blockhouse.


Fitzroy was particularly angered when Heke called on the United States Consul for support and later flew an American ensign from the stern of his war canoe. Between the toppling of the various poles the dangerous idiocy on both sides was almost ended several times. Heke guaranteed to replace the poles and protect British settlers. Fitzroy agreed to abolish the unpopular Customs charges which had hit Maori trade. But on the other side of the globe a House of Commons select committee chaired by Lord Howick, the future Earl Grey, decided to reinterpret the Treaty of Waitangi. They argued that the Maoris had no rights at all to the vast hinterland of unoccupied lands and urged that they should automatically fall to the Crown. The committee’s report also criticized the ‘want of vigour and decisions in the proceedings adopted towards the natives’. The implicit threat of a breached treaty was passed to the Maoris by helpful missionaries.


At dawn on 11 March 1845 Heke struck with unprecedented savagery. An officer and five men digging trenches around the blockhouse were swallowed by a flood of slashing, stabbing natives. As the troopers died the flagstaff was toppled. At the same time two columns of Maoris attacked the township below to create a diversion. Sailors and Marines guarding a naval gun on the outskirts fought hand to hand with cutlass and bayonet, pushing the attackers back into a gully before themselves being forced back with their officer severely wounded and their NCO and four men dead. Troops in another blockhouse overlooking the main road exchanged fire with the attackers, as did civilians and old soldiers manning three ship’s guns. Around 100 soldiers held the Maoris back as women and children were ferried out to the sloop Hazard and other ships anchored in the bay, including the US warship St Louis, an English whaler and Bishop Selwyn’s schooner. Heke remained on Flagstaff Hill, satisfied with his day’s work and not too anxious to press home the attack on the settlement if it meant too many casualties among his own men. Uncoordinated and half-hearted fighting continued throughout the morning, periods of eerie silence being shattered by bursts of gunfire and screams and the crackle of wooden buildings put to the torch. At 1 p.m. the garrison’s reserve magazine exploded and fire spread from house to house. The cause of the conflagration was later attributed to a spark from a workman’s pipe. Although Heke had shown no sign of attacking the township, save as diversionary tactics, the senior officer present, Naval Lieutenant Philpotts, and the local magistrate decided on a full evacuation of all able-bodied men. The remaining defenders scuttled for the ships and the safety offered by Hazard’s 100 guns.


The Maoris rampaged through the burning buildings, sparing two churches and the house of the Catholic Bishop Pompallier. When looters carried off some of the Bishop’s household goods Heke threatened to have the thieves executed. Only a 3-mile hike by the Bishop to Heke’s camp, after which he urged a pardon as enough blood had been shed, saved them. The Anglican Bishop Selwyn protested when Maoris calmly and soberly began to roll away casks of captured spirits. He said: ‘They listened patiently to my remonstances and in one instance they allowed me to turn the cock and allow the liquor to run upon the ground.’ Other clergymen who later went ashore were well treated. Six settlers who returned to rescue valued possessions were not. They were butchered on the spot. In all 19 Europeans were killed and 29 wounded. The ships took the survivors to Auckland. To the Maoris, despite the reported loss of thirty-four of their own men, the white men had been humbled and the flagstaff, symbol of their pride and greed, lay in the mud.


* * *


Lieutenant-Colonel William Hulme, a sensible, no-nonsense veteran of the Pindari campaigns in India, was ordered to put down Heke’s rebellion and avenge the deaths. He had under his command a small force of the 96th Regiment reinforced by a detachment of the 58th Rutlandshires, newly arrived from New South Wales: 8 officers and 204 men under Major Cyprian Bridge. Bridge was thirty-six, a literate and able commander whose journals contain a straightforward account of the frustrations and setbacks of the ensuing campaign. When they anchored in the Bay of Islands the regimental band played ‘Rule Britannia’ and ‘The King of the Cannibal Islands’.


They were met by 400 friendly Maoris under Tamati Waaka Nene, a devoted ally of the British who saw Heke’s revolt as a shameful breach of the oaths sworn at Waitangi. Hulme took great pains to ensure his troops knew the difference between hostile and friendly natives and promised severe punishment for any soldier who harmed a Maori ally. Many of the soldiers were uneducated country lads who were astonished at the natives’ appearance: tall, fine-looking men, their bodies heavily tattooed, their cloaks richly decorated with feathers and pelts, their ears pierced with bone, ivory and brass. They were even more astonished to be joined by a few pakeha Maoris, white men who had ‘gone native’. These included the colourful ex-convict Jackey Marmon from Sydney who boasted about the tribal enemies he had slaughtered in battle and eaten at cannibal feasts.


The flagstaff was quickly re-erected over the smoking and deserted settlement and Hulme’s main force set off for the mouth of the Kawakawa river to deal first with Pomare, a local chieftain who had sided with Heke. The ships anchored off Pomare’s pa, or fortress, which stood on an imposing headland. Pomare was arrested under a white flag. The chief was taken aboard the White Star and persuaded to order his men to surrender their arms. The soldiers looted the empty pa, found a few rifles, and burnt it to the foundations. It was an inglorious start to the campaign but those thirsty for blood soon found it.


Hulme’s next target was Heke’s own pa at Puketutu near Lake Omapere 15 miles inland and close to the friendly Waaka’s stronghold. The infantry were augmented by seamen, Royal Marines and a three-pounder battery under Lieutenant Egerton RN. They were ferried up the Kerikeri river and then marched in good order through increasingly foul weather. Fierce and sudden downpours added to the misery.


Hulme sent some men ahead with local guides to report on Heke’s position. They found a strong fortress with three rings of palisades made musket-proof with flax leaves. The outer barricades were angled to pour crossfire on any assailant. Between each line of defence were ditches and low stone walls which offered shelter from bombardments. Maori riflemen manned ditches behind the outer palisade, their guns pointing through loopholes level with the ground.


Despite a lack of adequate artillery Hulme decided to attack the next morning and his force advanced to within 200 yards of the pa. Three storming parties were prepared. Hulme’s plan depended on a terrifying bombardment by Lieutenant Egerton’s rocket battery. The Maoris believed the rockets would chase a man until he was killed. The truth soon proved rather more laughable. Egerton’s first two rockets sailed hopelessly over the pa, carving crazy patterns in the still air. The third hit the palisades with a thunderous noise but when the smoke cleared there was virtually no damage. The remaining nine proved to be just as useless.


British troops and Waaka’s Maoris were closing with the enemy when 300 hostile natives, led by Heke’s ally Kawiti, dashed from concealment behind them, brandishing axes and double-barrelled guns. The men of the 58th turned around, fired and counter-charged with fixed bayonets. Kawiti’s men later complained bitterly that the soldiers came at them with teeth gritted and yelling unseemly and unnecessary curses. The counter-charge shattered the enemy but the rest of the British force was then hit by a sally from the pa itself. Vicious hand-to-hand fighting around the Maori breastworks eventually drove the defenders back behind their palisades.


It was stalemate. British musket fire was ineffective against the strong defences, the rockets were used up, and Hulme realized that without heavier artillery he had no hope of a breakthrough. There was more inconclusive fighting amid nearby swamps but the first real battle of the war was over, a low-score draw. The British pulled back with 14 killed and 38 wounded. Their enemy, by British accounts later disputed, lost 47 killed and 80 wounded, including Kawiti’s two sons. The Maori’s own flagstaff, carrying the Union Jack as an act of ironic derision, remained aloft above Heke’s pa. The British returned, in low spirits, to their ships.


Hulme returned to Auckland leaving Major Bridge in command. Bridge decided to attack a pa up the Waikare river rather than allow his men’s morale to sink even lower, kicking their heels in the Bay of Islands. His men barely rested, he set off with three companies of the 58th. At the river’s mouth they switched to small boats, manned by sailors, with Auckland Volunteers and friendly Maoris as guides. Bridge intended to make a surprise attack and the raid was well planned at the start. The outcome was a messy if largely bloodless shambles.


Several miles upstream the boats stuck fast on mudflats. Small bands of soldiers were disembarked among scenes of noisy confusion. Some became bogged down in the mire, while Maori allies engaged in a running fight with natives who sallied from the forewarned pa. Waaka’s men got the best of the skirmish but the enemy simply disappeared into the thick brush. The soldiers entered an empty pa and found only ‘pigs, potatoes and onions.’


The pa was destroyed and, with the river’s tidal waters high enough to float the boats off the mud, Bridge withdrew his tired and grimy force. There had been no British casualties but two of Waaka’s men were dead and seven wounded. In less careful hands Bridge’s expedition could have been a disaster. Misled by dubious guides and faulty intelligence Bridge had nevertheless behaved with calmness and common sense. Such qualities were not noticeable in the new commander of the British forces.


* * *


The forging of the British Empire saw its share of bone-headed bunglers. Colonel Henry Despard of the 99th is widely regarded as a prime example of that species. Despard received his first commission in 1799. His military thinking was stuck fast in the conventions of the Napoleonic era. He saw considerable action in India before taking up peacetime duties as Inspecting Officer of the Bristol recruiting district. In 1842 he took command of the 99th Lancashires, which had recently arrived in Australia. In New South Wales he outraged local civilians by snubbing a ball held in his honour, by blocking public roads around the barracks, and by having his buglers practise close to their homes. Despard insisted that his new command abandon its modern drill manuals and return to those of his younger days. The result was parade ground chaos which did not augur well for an active campaign. He was prone to apoplectic rages and rarely, if ever, listened to either advice or complaints. He had no doubts about his own abilities. Now aged sixty, it was thirty years since he had seen active service. He arrived in Auckland aboard the British Sovereign on 2 June with two companies of his regiment. Major Bridge’s journal describes his mounting frustration at the arrogance and short-sighted stubbornness of his new CO.


Despard gathered his disparate force to move on the Bay of Islands. It was the biggest display of Western armed might yet seen by fledgling New Zealand: 270 men of the 58th under Bridge, 100 of the 99th under Major E. Macpherson, 70 of Hulme’s 96th, a naval contingent of seamen and marines, 80 Auckland Volunteers led by Lieutenant Figg, to be used as pioneers and guides, all supported by four cannon – two ancient six-pounders and two twelve-pound carronades.


At Kororareka Despard was told Heke had attacked Waaka’s pa with 600 men but Waaka had beaten them off with his 150 followers. Heke had suffered a severe thigh wound. Despard decided to launch an immediate assault on Heke’s new pa at Ohaeawai, a few miles from Puketutu, despite foul winter weather which was turning tracks into quagmires.


During a miserable 12-mile march the cannon became stuck fast in the mud and the little army took shelter at the Waimate mission station. Despard was reduced to ranting fury. Waaka arrived with 250 warriors but Despard said sourly that when he wanted the help of savages he would ask for it. Luckily for him his Maori allies did not hear of the insult, and Despard must have changed his mind and the Maoris joined the British.


Most of the force stayed at the station for several days until fresh supplies were brought up. On 23 June, at 6 p.m., an advance detachment came within sight of Heke’s pa. Alert Maoris swiftly opened fire but the scrub was up to 10 feet high and the skirmish line escaped slaughter, carrying back eight wounded comrades. The enemy marksmen retired to the safety of their stockade. The main British force caught up and encamped in a native village 400 yards from the pa. Waaka and his men occupied a conical hill nearby to protect the British from a flanking attack. A breastwork and battery for the guns was swiftly erected.


Heke’s new pa was twice as strong as that at Puketutu. It was built on rising ground with ravines and dense forest on three sides, giving the defenders an easy route for supplies, reinforcements or withdrawal. There were three rows of palisades with 5-foot ditches between them. The outer stockade was 90 yards wide with projecting corners to allow concentric fire. The defenders, standing in the first inner ditch, aimed through loopholes level with the ground. The ditch was connected by tunnels to bomb shelters and the innermost defences. It was a sophisticated citadel and was well stocked. The Maoris had a plentiful supply of firearms and ammunition, some of it looted, the rest bought or bartered before the uprising. Four ship’s guns were built into the stockade.


Officers, pakeha Maoris and native allies warned Despard of the fort’s great strength. So too did Waaka. All such doubts were rebuffed. After one angry exchange Waaka was heard to mutter in his own language. Despard insisted on a translation. He was told: ‘The chief says you are a very stupid person.’


The British battery opened fire at 10 a.m. on the 24th but ‘did no execution’. The Maoris returned fire and until nightfall there was no let-up in the fusillades of shell, ball and grape. Bridge wrote that much shot burst within the pa and ‘I fancy they must have lost many men.’ The following day the bombardment continued but the flax-woven palisades made it impossible to see how much damage was done to the defences. The shot was simply absorbed by the flexible material.


Despard decided that only a night attack would breach the stockade. He prepared storming parties with ladders ready for 2 a.m. He ordered the construction of flax shields, each 12 feet by 6, to be carried by advanced parties. That night Sergeant-Major William Moir said: ‘The chances are against us coming out of this action. I look upon it as downright madness.’ Luckily for everyone concerned a storm in the early hours prevented the night attack. The following morning the flax shields were tested and to the surprise of few the shot passed clean through. After that demonstration few soldiers trusted Despard’s ability and some doubted his sanity. Another of his bright ideas involved firing ‘stench balls’ at the enemy. That also flopped.


The physical condition of the British deteriorated as rain poured incessantly on their crude shelters. Their clothing was reduced to rags, in some cases barely recognizable as uniforms. There was no meat and little flour but a gill of rum was given to each man every morning and evening. Taken on an empty stomach and supplemented by local native liquor the result could be devastating. Drunkenness, a problem throughout the New Zealand campaign, increased. There were fights over the firm-limbed and cheerful native women.


A new battery was built closer to the pa’s right flank and quickly came under hot fire which wounded several soldiers and killed a sailor. An enemy raid was beaten off but the guns were withdrawn. Despard demanded that HMS Hazard’s 32-pounder be dragged from the mouth of the Kerikeri. After a brutal and agonizing haul it was manhandled into position halfway up the conical hill by twenty-five sailors. Despard planned to attack as soon as the big gun had softened up the outer defences. He told Bridge: ‘God grant we may be successful but it is a very hazardous step and must be attended with great loss of life.’


On the morning of 1 July the enemy launched a surprise attack on Waaka’s camp on the conical hill, aimed at killing Waaka himself. A number of Heke’s men moved undetected through the forest and emerged behind the camp. Caught off guard, the native allies streamed down the hill with their women and children. Despard, who had been inspecting the cannon, was engulfed in the panic-stricken human tide. He ran into the British camp and ordered a bayonet charge up the hill. The soldiers came under crossfire from hill and pa but by then only a few of the enemy were left on the summit and it was quickly retaken. The attackers withdrew when they realized that Waaka had escaped.


Despard was driven to characteristic fury by his ignominious sprint into his own camp. His temper must have deepened with ill-concealed sniggers from the ranks of his tattered army. He decided to attack that same afternoon. The bombardment had clearly failed to leave gaping holes in the outer stockade and the enemy appeared unscathed. His troops and their Maori allies regarded a frontal assault as suicidal. But no appeals to caution would persuade him otherwise. The scene was set for tragedy.


His plan, such as it was, was to focus the attack on a narrow front at the pa’s north-west corner, which Despard believed had been damaged by the cannonfire. Twenty Volunteers under Lieutenant Jack Beatty were to creep silently to the outer stockade to test the defenders’ alertness. They were to be quickly followed by 80 grenadiers, some seamen and pioneers under Major Macpherson, equipped with axes, ropes and ladders to pull down sections of the wood and flax perimeter. Behind these were to be 100 men under Major Bridge who were expected to storm through the gaps into the pa. They in turn were to be backed by another wave of 100 men under Colonel Hulme. Despard planned to lead the remainder of his force into the stockade to mop up and accept the enemy surrender.


The Maori plan of defence was less elaborate. One unknown chief called out: ‘Stand every man firm and you will see the soldiers walk into the ovens.’


At 3 p.m. precisely on a bright and sunny afternoon the storming parties fell in. There was no surprise. They charged in four closely packed ranks, according to regulations, with just twenty-three inches between each rank. Fifty yards from the pa the men cheered. Corporal William Free later wrote: ‘The whole front of the pa flashed fire and in a moment we were in a one-sided fight – gun flashes from the foot of the stockade and from loopholes higher up, smoke half hiding the pa from us, yells and cheers and men falling all around. A man was shot in front of me and another was hit behind me. Not a single Maori could we see. They were all safely hidden in their trenches and pits, poking the muzzles of their guns under the fronts of the outer palisades. What could we do? We tore at the fence, firing through it, thrusting our bayonets in, or trying to pull a part of it down, but it was a hopeless business.’


The Maoris allowed Macpherson’s men to come within yards of the stockade before opening up with every gun they had. Their blistering fire was later described as like ‘the opening of the doors of a monster furnace’. Only a handful of men with axes and ladders reached the barrier. Despard, supported by Bridge, later claimed that the Auckland Volunteers had dropped flat at the first fusillade and would not budge thereafter. The surviving men at the foot of the stockade scrabbled hopelessly at the interwoven flax, firing at the occasional glimpse of a tattooed face within.


Bridge was no slacker and he and his men were soon caught in the same murderous fire. He wrote: ‘When I got up close to the fence and saw the way it resisted the united efforts of our brave fellows to pull it down and saw them falling thickly all around, my heart sank within me lest we should be defeated. Militia and Volunteers who carried the hatchets and ladders would not advance but laid down on their faces in the fern. Only one ladder was placed against the fence and this by an old man of the Militia.’


Despard watched the bloody shambles from the rear earthworks. Even he realized that such slaughter was worthless. A bugle call to withdraw was ignored in the heat of battle. A second call finally penetrated the brains of men conditioned to believe that retreat in the face of half-naked savages was unthinkable. The survivors dragged as many of their wounded comrades back with them as was feasible. Some soldiers returned two or three times through a hell of musket smoke and shot to rescue their mates. One wounded man was shot dead as he was carried on the back of Corporal Free, who dropped the corpse and carried another soldier to safety. Hulme’s supporting party covered the retreat well with substantial fire which kept enemy heads down. But the casualties suffered in just seven minutes of fighting were fearful. At least one-third of the British attackers had been killed or wounded. Three officers, including Beatty, were dead and three injured. Some 33 NCOs and privates were killed and 62 wounded, four of whom later died. The Maoris lost ten at most. Bridge wrote: ‘It was a heartrending sight to see the number of gallant fellows left dead on the field and to hear the groans and cries of the wounded for us not to leave them behind.’


The jubilant Maori defenders rejected a missionary’s flag of truce and during that long night held a noisy war dance. The dispirited troops huddled in their camp and mourned their dead and tended their casualties and wondered who would be next. They were tormented by the ‘most frightful screams’ from within the pa, screams which haunted all who heard them.


Two more days passed before Heke allowed the British to collect their dead from the charnel field in front of his stockade. Several corpses had been scalped, beheaded and otherwise horribly mutilated. One, that of a soldier of the 99th, bore the marks of being bound, alive, by flax. His thighs had been burnt and hacked about. A hot iron had been thrust up his anus. The soldiers knew then the source of those terrible nocturnal screams.


Despard prepared to break camp and return, beaten, to Waimate. Waaka and his chiefs, hungry for loot, persuaded him to stay a few more days at least. More shot and shell for the cannon were brought up and the bombardment of the pa resumed. It continued ceaselessly for another day. That night dogs began howling within the pa. It was a sign, according to Maori allies, that the enemy were withdrawing. The following morning, while the British slept, Waaka’s warriors slipped into the fort and found it empty. They looted everything, including weapons taken off the dead. They condescended to sell the outraged British the odd sack of potatoes. Everything else they kept for future trade. One officer missing in action, Captain Grant, was found in a shallow grave near the palisade. Flesh had been cut off his thighs, apparently for eating.


After inspecting the pa’s defences from the inside Bridge wrote: ‘This will be a lesson to us not to make too light of our enemies, and show us the folly of attempting to carry such a fortification by assault, without first making a practicable breach.’ The pa was burnt but there was no sense of victory. Heke had simply moved to build a new stronghold elsewhere, no great inconvenience. Too many lives had ended for no good reason.


* * *


Despard reported back to Auckland, anxious to pin blame for the carnage on anyone but himself, and taking with him the men of the 99th and 96th. Major Bridge was left in command of the 58th at Waimate. Back pay for all ranks was sent up to the mission station. Much of it was spent immediately on drinking and gambling by men anxious to blot out the horror and shame of Ohaeawai. Inevitably discipline grew lax. One private, a veteran who had been wounded at Puketutu, was accidentally shot dead on guard duty. The dead man, 22-year-old Private Ingate had been a Norfolk farm labourer before enlisting. His comrade Sergeant Robert Hattaway wrote: ‘He allways told us he would never Be shot by a Maorie. It was true for him. . . .’ One man was caught in the act of stealing rum from a barrel. But he was a family man and Hattaway, a newly promoted NCO, spared him a court martial. Another offender was not so lucky: an American Volunteer with a record for insubordination, he was found guilty at a drumhead court martial of cursing the British flag and immediately suffered fifty lashes.


Bridge tried to keep his men occupied by building stout earthworks and other defences around the camp as protection against an enemy elated by victory. These were almost complete when Despard returned, bubbling with his now familiar petulance. He said it was demeaning to build ramparts to defend a well-armed European force against a ‘barbarian enemy’. He ordered the earthworks flattened. Bridge held his tongue but clearly believed that the slaughter in front of Heke’s pa had taught his commander nothing.


Governor Fitzroy, anxious to get Heke to make peace, ordered the 58th withdrawn to camp among the ruins of the Kororareka settlement. His willingness to talk, and his careful conduct in the run-up to the Flagstaff War, were severely criticized in Auckland and London. He was accused of being over-protective of the interests of the aborigines and ‘losing sight of the fundamental principles, that indulgence may be abused and forebearance misconstrued’. In his own defence he later wrote: ‘Had I not treated them with consideration, and had not the public authorities been very forebearing, the destruction of Auckland and Wellington would have been matters of history before this period. An overpowering multitude have been restrained hitherto by moral influence.’ He added: ‘My object always was to avoid bringing on a trial of physical strength with those who, in that respect, were overwhelmingly our superiors; but gradually to gain the necessary influence and authority by a course of scrupulous justice, truth and benevolence.’ Such sentiments did not match the thirst for revenge and Fitzroy was recalled.


His replacement was 34-year-old Captain George Grey whose early service in Ireland had convinced him that the frontiers of the civilized world must be widened to provide fresh opportunities for the poor, landless and hungry. He had served in Australia, and on the Beagle, and had impressed his superiors with his efficiency, diligence and courage. His remit was to punish the natives, end an increasingly costly conflict and bring ‘financial and commercial prosperity’ to the settlements. He told the Legislative Council: ‘You may rely that my sole aim and object shall be to settle upon a sure and lasting basis the interests of yourselves and of your children, and to give effect to her Majesty’s wise and benevolent desire for the peace and happiness of all her Majesty’s subjects in this interesting portion of her empire, and upon which the regards of so large a portion of the civilized world are now anxiously fixed.’ He also warned the settlers that he would, if necessary, use his full powers under martial law and aim to secure in any peace the ‘freedom and safety’ to which the aborigines were also entitled.


Grey decided he must see the troubles in the North at first hand. On reaching the Bay of Islands he made some attempts to parley with Heke and Kawiti. But becoming impatient, he demanded an immediate reply to Fitzroy’s earlier peace moves. Further delays gave him the excuse to mobilize his forces. Those forces were now impressive as Grey had brought with him considerable reinforcements from Auckland. They included 563 officers and men of the 58th, 157 of the 99th, 42 Volunteers, 84 Royal Marines, a 313-strong Naval Brigade, 450 friendly Maoris – a total of just over 1,600 men plus six cannon including two 32-pounders, four mortars and two rocket tubes.


Between 7 and 11 December the British decamped and moved up the Kawakawa river to attack the ‘Bat’s Nest’ – Kawiti’s pa at Ruapekapeka, strongly built on a densely wooded hillside. Again drunkenness impeded the expedition. A few ‘old troopers’ were over-ready to blast away at anything that moved in the woods . . . wild pigs, birds and shadows. The advance faltered as bullocks, heavy carts and cannon stuck fast in the liquid mud. Christmas was celebrated by the men in teeming misery relieved only by rum. Officers noted in the diaries that the Christian natives showed great devotion in observing the day and attending mass.


By the 27th several cannon were in position overlooking the Bat’s Nest and opened fire. Despard heard worrying reports that Heke had left his own refuge and was marching with 200 men to join Kawiti at Ruapekapeka. After exasperating delays which drove Despard into deeper rages, the big 32-pounders were dragged up to join the first cannon in a formidable battery 1,200 yards from the enemy pa. The Maoris, however, were well entrenched and their defences included solid underground bunkers which resisted every shot. After each bombardment they simply emerged to repair the little damage done to the stockades. Despard later wrote: ‘The extraordinary strength of this place, particularly in its interior defences, far exceeded any idea I could have formed of it. Every hut was a complete fortress in itself, being strongly stockaded all round with heavy timbers sunk deep in the ground . . . besides having a strong embankment thrown up behind them. Each hut had also a deep excavation close to it, making it completely bomb-proof, and sufficiently large to contain several people where at night they were sheltered from both shot and shell.’


Most of the British column, including several cannon and mortars, were still on the trail. Bridge complained that the bombardment was pointless until all men and guns were in place and deployed to concentrate intensive fire on the pa’s weakest points. Instead Despard, bizarrely and to conserve ammunition, would not allow more than one cannon to be fired at any one time. Bridge wrote: ‘How deplorable it is to see such ignorance, indecision and obstinacy in a Commander who will consult no one . . . and has neither the respect nor the confidence of the troops under his command.’ He added: ‘Our shot and shell are being frittered away in this absurd manner instead of keeping up constant fire.’


The lacklustre bombardment continued until another battery was built closer to the pa, protected by 200 men. This was swiftly attacked in a sortie from the stockade and the enemy were beaten back with only light casualties on either side. The fiercest fighting was between Kawiti’s men and friendly Maoris on 2 January. In a confused and fragmented fight in thick brushland the enemy were driven back into the pa. From its barricades they taunted the white men, daring them to charge as they had done at Ohaeawai.


The siege dragged on through wet days and nights. Conditions in the British lines grew appalling. Disease and exposure put many men out of action. Reinforcements and fresh supplies were lost or abandoned on forest trails. Drunkenness continued and could not be curbed. Ammunition was wasted not just by Despard’s tactics but by jittery soldiers who saw a foe behind every bush. Men and officers who had proved themselves ready to be heroes if given the chance sank into despair at their shabby leadership.


On 8 January eighty of the enemy were spotted leaving the safety of the pa and disappearing into the forest. Governor Grey urged Kawiti by message to send away the Maori women and children as he did not want them hurt in the bombardment. The British received more reports of small bands of warriors melting away with their families. The determination of those who stayed within the pa was stiffened, however, by the arrival of Heke, although he had with him only sixty men and not the reported 200.


At last, on 10 January, the entire British arsenal was in position – the 32-pounders, smaller cannon, mortars, rockets and small arms. They opened up a ferocious crossfire on the pa’s outer defences. Despard wrote: ‘The fire was kept up with little intermission during the greater part of the day; and towards evening it was evident that the outer works . . . were nearly all giving way.’ The stockade was breached in three places. Despard was almost delirious with excitement and prepared for a frontal assault. A Maori ally, guessing his intent, shouted at him: ‘How many soldiers do you want to kill?’ Other chiefs told Grey that an attack now would result in the same waste of life as at Ohaeawai, but if they waited until the following day the enemy would have fled. Grey listened, agreed and overruled Despard, much to the colonel’s irritation.


On the following morning Waaka’s brother William and a European interpreter crept up to the stockade. They heard nothing from inside except for dogs barking. The pa seemed deserted and a signal was given to the nearest battery. A hundred men under Captain Denny advanced cautiously with native allies. Some men pushed over a section of fencing and entered the pa.


It had not been deserted. The explanation for the eerie silence was rather more strange, and rich with irony. It was a Sunday and the Christian Maoris, the majority of the defenders including Heke, had assumed that Christian soldiers would never attack on the Sabbath. Heke and the other believers had retired to a clearing just outside the far stockade to hold a prayer meeting. Only Kawiti and a handful of non-Christian warriors were left inside when the British stepped through the breach.


Too late Kawiti realized what was happening. He alerted the Maoris outside and threw up hasty barricades within the pa. He and his men managed spasmodic fire against the incoming troops. Heke and the rest of the garrison made a determined effort to re-enter the pa, firing through holes in its walls created earlier by the British cannon. Several British troops were killed and wounded but more troopers and native allies swarmed into the pa. In a topsy-turvy engagement the defenders became the attackers and vice versa within moments. Heke and the rest were pressed back to the tree-line of the surrounding forest and sheltered behind a natural barrier of fallen tree trunks.


A party of sailors, seeing action for the first time, charged this position and were shot down one by one. Three sergeants – Speight, Stevenson and Munro – and a motley band of soldiers, seamen and natives emerged from the pa and threw themselves at the makeshift barricade with such fury that the enemy withdrew deeper into the forest. The sergeants were each commended in orders and when, in 1856, the Victoria Cross was instituted Speight’s name was put forward for a retrospective citation. The award was vetoed on the grounds that no VCs could be awarded for action prior to the Crimean War.


Kawiti and his stragglers fought their way clear of the pa and joined Heke and the other fleeing warriors in the forest. The battle was over. The British had succeeded because the Christian Maoris were more scrupulous in observing the faith than the Christian Europeans. It may have been farcical but it was not a bloodless victory. Friendly Maori casualties were not recorded but the British lost 12 men killed, including 7 sailors from HMS Castor, and 30 wounded, two of whom later died. Despard claimed that the enemy’s losses were severe, including the deaths of several chiefs, but he was keen to add to the scale of the victory. He explained that a body count was not possible as the Maoris ‘invariably carry off both killed and wounded when possible’. Ruapekapeka was burnt. The First Maori War, an unconventional campaign, had ended in a suitably offbeat way.


* * *


Despard did not enjoy popular acclaim for the victory. He exaggerated the scale and ferocity of the final battle in his despatches, although his reference to ‘the capture of a fortress of extraordinary strength by assault, and nobly defended by a brave and determined enemy’ contains some truths. His bravado cut no ice with the colonial press who lambasted him mercilessly. An editorial in The New Zealander condemned his ‘lengthened, pompous, commendatory despatch’. Puzzled, angered and saddened by such barbs Despard left for Sydney on 21 January. Bridge noted caustically that his departure was ‘much to the satisfaction of the troops’. Despard retained command of the 99th until he was seventy but, happily for the men under him, never saw active service again. He died, a major-general, in 1858. He never, according to contemporaries, understood the ill gratitude he received. Many of his men, grieving for fallen comrades, would quite happily have hanged him.


Heke and Kawiti first tried to join up with their former ally Pomare but that wily old brigand knew which way the wind was now blowing and refused them aid. The rebel chiefs knew that the time to talk peace had now come. They opened negotiations with Governor Grey using their enemy Waaka as a go-between. Kawiti was prepared to agree peace for ever more. Heke, however, insisted that a Maori flagstaff should be erected alongside the Union Jack. Grey for his part rescinded all threats to seize Maori lands and granted free pardons to both chiefs and their men. He promised that all concerned in the rebellion ‘may now return in peace and safety to their houses; where, so long as they conduct themselves properly, they shall remain unmolested in their persons and properties’. Her Majesty, he said, had an ‘earnest desire for the happiness and welfare of her native subjects in New Zealand’.


The clemency shown by the Governor was not due to humanitarian feelings. Grey needed to bring the Northern troubles to a swift conclusion because his troops were desperately required in the South to deal with violence which had flared up around Wellington. The causes were familiar: a new clash between the land-hungry New Zealand Company and the chief Te Rangihaeata, whose earlier massacre of white men had so encouraged Heke.


The murders, sieges and inconclusive campaigning that followed in the South cannot properly be regarded as part of the Flagstaff War. Rather it was a foretaste of the bloodshed that was to follow with little let-up for another two decades. But in the North, around Auckland, the peace treaties were honoured by both sides and the occasional violent clash was small in scale.
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